

EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Monday, May 27, 2024

The Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages met with videoconference this day at 5:00 p.m. [ET] to study matters relating to minority-language health services, to study the application of the Official Languages Act and directives made under it, within those institutions subject to the Act, and to study the subject matter of those elements contained in Division 24 of Part 4 of Bill C-69, An Act to implement certain provisions of the budget tabled in Parliament on April 16, 2024; and in camera for consideration of a draft report.

Senator René Cormier (*Chair*) in the chair.

[*Translation*]

The Chair: I am René Cormier, senator from New Brunswick, and chair of the Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages.

Before we begin, I would like to ask all senators and other in-person participants to consult the cards on the table for guidelines to prevent audio feedback incidents.

Please take note of the following preventative measures in place to protect the health and safety of all participants, including the interpreters.

If possible, ensure that you are seated in a manner that increases the distance between two microphones.

Only use a black approved earpiece. The former grey earpieces must no longer be used. Keep your earpiece away from all microphones at all times. When you are not using your earpiece, place it face down, on the sticker placed on the table for this purpose.

Thank you all for your cooperation.

I invite committee members to introduce themselves, starting on my left.

Senator Moncion: Lucie Moncion from Ontario.

Senator Clement: Bernadette Clement from Ontario.

Senator Audette: Michèle Audette from Quebec.

Senator Aucoin: Albert Réjean Aucoin from Nova Scotia.

Senator Mégie: Marie-Françoise Mégie from Quebec.

TÉMOIGNAGES

OTTAWA, le lundi 27 mai 2024

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des langues officielles se réunit aujourd'hui, à 17 heures (HE), avec vidéoconférence, pour étudier les services de santé dans la langue de la minorité, étudier l'application de la Loi sur les langues officielles ainsi que des règlements et instructions en découlant, au sein des institutions assujetties à la loi, et étudier la teneur des éléments de la section 24 de la partie 4 du projet de loi C-69, Loi portant exécution de certaines dispositions du budget déposé au Parlement le 16 avril 2024; et à huis clos, pour étudier une ébauche de rapport.

Le sénateur René Cormier (*président*) occupe le fauteuil.

[*Français*]

Le président : Je m'appelle René Cormier, sénateur du Nouveau-Brunswick, et je suis actuellement président du Comité sénatorial permanent des langues officielles.

Avant de commencer, je voudrais demander à tous les sénateurs et sénatrices et autres participants qui participent à la réunion en personne de consulter les cartes sur la table pour connaître les lignes directrices visant à prévenir les incidents liés au retour de son.

Veuillez prendre note des mesures préventives suivantes, qui ont été mises en place pour protéger la santé et la sécurité de tous les participants, y compris les interprètes.

Dans la mesure du possible, veillez à vous asseoir de manière à augmenter la distance entre les microphones des sièges que vous occupez.

N'utilisez qu'une oreillette noire homologuée. Les anciennes oreillettes grises ne doivent plus être utilisées. Tenez votre oreillette éloignée de tous les microphones à tout moment. Lorsque vous n'utilisez pas votre oreillette, placez-la, face vers le bas, sur l'autocollant placé sur la table à cet effet.

Merci à tous de votre coopération.

J'invite les membres du comité à se présenter, en commençant par ma gauche.

La sénatrice Moncion : Lucie Moncion, de l'Ontario.

La sénatrice Clement : Bernadette Clement, de l'Ontario.

La sénatrice Audette : Michèle Audette, du Québec.

Le sénateur Aucoin : Albert Réjean Aucoin, de la Nouvelle-Écosse.

La sénatrice Mégie : Marie-Françoise Mégie, du Québec.

The Chair: Thank you. I'd like to take this opportunity to welcome Senator Audette, who is now joining the committee and will be a member of the steering committee. Welcome, Senator Audette.

I wish to welcome all of you and viewers across the country who may be watching. I would like to point out that I am taking part in this meeting from within the unceded traditional territory of the Algonquin Anishinabe people.

[English]

Tonight, we continue our study on minority-language health services by welcoming researchers and organizations able to address the theme of health professionals and post-secondary institutions, one of the seven themes of our study.

For our first panel, we welcome, in person, Elena Valenzuela, Director and Associate Dean of the Official Languages and Bilingualism Institute at the University of Ottawa.

[Translation]

Welcome, Ms. Valenzuela.

We also welcome our witness joining us by video conference, from Manitoba, Dr. José François, Provincial Chief Medical Officer of Shared Health and Association Professor in the Department of Family Medicine at the Max Rady College of Medicine at the University of Manitoba.

Good evening to you both, and thank you for accepting our invitation. We will now hear each of your opening remarks. They will be followed by questions from the senators.

[English]

The floor is yours, Ms. Valenzuela.

[Translation]

Elena Valenzuela, Director and Associate Dean, Official Languages and Bilingualism Institute, University of Ottawa: Mr. Chair, members of the Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages, thank you for inviting me to present my views on minority-language health services and the role of post-secondary institutions.

For more than 15 years, I have been conducting research on minority languages in the Canadian context. In my research, I examine the challenges of maintaining one's minority languages, the relationship between language and identity, and the effects that policy has on maintaining the home language.

Le président : Merci. J'en profite pour souhaiter la bienvenue à la sénatrice Audette, qui se joint maintenant au comité et qui fera partie du comité directeur. Bienvenue, sénatrice Audette.

Je vous souhaite la bienvenue ainsi qu'aux téléspectateurs de tout le pays qui nous regardent. Je tiens à souligner que les terres à partir desquelles nous vous parlons aujourd'hui font partie du territoire traditionnel non cédé du peuple algonquin anishinabe.

[Traduction]

Ce soir, nous poursuivons notre étude sur les services de santé dans la langue de la minorité et nous accueillons des chercheurs et des organismes qui pourront nous éclairer au sujet de l'un des sept thèmes de notre étude, les professionnels de la santé et les établissements d'enseignement postsecondaire.

Pour notre premier groupe de témoins, nous accueillons en personne Elena Valenzuela, directrice et doyenne associée de l'Institut des langues officielles et du bilinguisme de l'Université d'Ottawa.

[Français]

Bienvenue, madame.

Nous recevons également par vidéoconférence, à partir du Manitoba, le Dr José François, chef provincial du service médical, Soins communs, et professeur agrégé au Département de médecine familiale du Collège de médecine Max Rady de l'Université du Manitoba.

Bonsoir à vous deux et merci d'avoir accepté notre invitation. Nous sommes prêts à entendre vos remarques préliminaires. Elles seront suivies d'une période de questions des sénateurs et sénatrices.

[Traduction]

Vous avez la parole, madame Valenzuela.

[Français]

Elena Valenzuela, directrice et doyenne associée, Institut des langues officielles et du bilinguisme, Université d'Ottawa : Monsieur le président, mesdames et messieurs les membres du Comité sénatorial permanent des langues officielles, merci de m'avoir invitée à présenter mon point de vue sur les services de santé dans la langue minoritaire et sur le rôle des établissements postsecondaires.

Depuis plus de 15 ans, je mène des recherches sur les langues minoritaires dans le contexte canadien. Dans mes recherches, j'examine les défis liés au maintien de la langue minoritaire, la relation entre la langue et l'identité ainsi que les effets des politiques sur le maintien de la langue maternelle.

Now, in my role as director of the Official Languages and Bilingualism Institute at the University of Ottawa, the largest bilingual university in the world, I have the pleasure of working with teachers, professors, researchers and students who are committed to and actively support Canada's bilingual mission, which is part of Canada's DNA.

[English]

There has been a good amount of research on the impact of language of care for anglophone, francophone and allophone patients in minority language settings in Canada. A study looking at patients from long-term care facilities admitted to hospitals in Ontario showed that when patients received care in their own language — French, English or a non-official language — they had shorter hospital stays, decreased anxiety and fewer adverse effects while in hospital. Similar studies outside of Canada support Canadian findings. When health care providers can speak with patients in the patient's language, there is improved direct communication, resulting in increased patient autonomy. It is a matter of dignity and respect to be able to receive care in your first language and thus take ownership of your own health and wellness.

On a personal note, I am the daughter of Spanish immigrants and have first-hand experience with this issue. My father worked for the government here in Canada for 30 years, speaking both French and English. Now, at 88 years old, he is still proficient in French and English, but Spanish remains his dominant language. I accompany him to all his medical appointments because he finds that the combination of hearing loss and needing to speak in his second language creates a certain anxiety that makes it difficult for him to retain medical information. I am there to translate for him. The few times we have come across health care workers who spoke Spanish, I could see an immediate difference in my father's engagement with his care.

Having access to health care in one's minority language ensures effective communication and better health outcomes. It reinforces the cultural and linguistic identity of the community. By providing health care services in the minority language, we acknowledge and support the integral role it plays in the well-being and cultural continuity of its speakers. It also supports the maintenance and survival of our official languages. Once we start cutting access to official languages in minority settings, we will start to lose that language. If Canada wants to uphold its commitment to bilingualism, it will have to keep these essential services accessible in the minority language.

Aujourd'hui, en tant que directrice de l'Institut des langues officielles et du bilinguisme de l'Université d'Ottawa, la plus grande université bilingue au monde, j'ai le plaisir de collaborer avec les enseignants, les professeurs, les chercheurs et les étudiants qui sont engagés et qui soutiennent activement la mission bilingue du Canada, qui enrichit et fait partie intégrante de l'ADN du pays.

[Traduction]

De nombreuses recherches ont été menées sur les effets de la langue utilisée pour les soins prodigués aux patients anglophones, francophones et allophones dans les milieux linguistiques minoritaires au Canada. Une étude portant sur des patients d'établissements de soins de longue durée admis dans des hôpitaux de l'Ontario a montré que lorsque les patients recevaient des soins dans leur propre langue — en français, en anglais ou dans une langue non officielle — leur séjour à l'hôpital était plus court, ils étaient moins anxieux et subissaient moins d'effets indésirables pendant leur séjour à l'hôpital. Des études semblables menées à l'étranger confirment les résultats obtenus au Canada. Le fait que les fournisseurs de soins de santé s'adressent aux patients dans leur langue améliore la communication directe et accroît l'autonomie du patient. Le fait de pouvoir recevoir des soins dans sa langue première et de s'approprier ainsi sa santé et son bien-être est une question de dignité et de respect.

Sur une note personnelle, je suis une fille d'immigrants espagnols et j'ai une expérience de première main de cette question. Mon père a travaillé pendant 30 ans en français et en anglais pour le gouvernement du Canada. Aujourd'hui, à 88 ans, il maîtrise toujours le français et l'anglais, mais l'espagnol reste sa langue dominante. Je l'accompagne à tous ses rendez-vous médicaux parce qu'il trouve que la perte auditive conjuguée à la nécessité de parler dans sa deuxième langue crée une certaine anxiété qui fait qu'il a du mal à retenir les renseignements médicaux. Je suis là pour traduire pour lui. Les rares fois où nous avons rencontré des professionnels de la santé qui parlaient espagnol, j'ai immédiatement constaté une différence dans la participation de mon père à ses soins.

L'accès aux soins de santé dans la langue minoritaire du patient garantit une communication efficace et de meilleurs résultats en matière de santé. Il renforce l'identité culturelle et linguistique de la communauté. En fournissant des services de santé dans la langue minoritaire, nous reconnaissons et soutenons le rôle intégral qu'elle joue dans le bien-être et la continuité culturelle de ses locuteurs. On contribue également au maintien et à la survie de nos langues officielles. Si nous réduisons l'accès aux langues officielles en milieu minoritaire, nous commençons à perdre cette langue. Si le Canada veut respecter son engagement envers le bilinguisme, il doit maintenir l'accès à ces services essentiels dans la langue minoritaire.

Minority-language communities, including francophones outside Quebec, Indigenous peoples and allophones, face substantial barriers in accessing health services. These barriers impact health care quality and the overall well-being of these communities. Universities and post-secondary institutions can address these challenges through research, education and community engagement.

In the following, I will address some key points.

First, training of health professionals: One of the most pressing challenges is the shortage of health professionals who are proficient in minority languages. Universities can address this gap by integrating language training into health-related programs. For example, the Official Languages and Bilingualism Institute at the University of Ottawa offers French immersion programs as well as certifications for bilingual health care providers. At the university, our main challenge is funding and support for these programs.

Second, interdisciplinary education: Universities can foster interdisciplinary collaboration, which is essential for addressing complex health issues. This approach ensures that graduates not only understand the clinical aspects of health care but also the cultural and linguistic nuances that affect patient care.

Finally, bilingual and plurilingual health programs: Establishing more bilingual health programs within universities can attract students who already speak minority languages and provide them with additional support and training. Although most health science programs outside of Quebec are English, there are several programs that are French but fewer still that are bilingual. Language training for future health care workers should not be minimized. Scholarships and financial incentives can further encourage students to pursue these programs, addressing the shortage of bilingual health professionals.

To conclude, post-secondary institutions play a crucial role in improving minority-language health services by providing linguistic training to health professionals, conducting research, fostering interdisciplinary collaboration and engaging with communities. By investing in these areas, we can ensure that all Canadians, regardless of their language, can better engage in their own health care, gain autonomy and feel the sense of dignity and respect we all deserve. Linguistic rights are human rights.

Thank you.

Les communautés linguistiques en situation minoritaire, y compris les francophones hors Québec, les peuples autochtones et les allophones, se heurtent à des obstacles considérables à l'accès aux services de santé. Ces obstacles ont une incidence sur la qualité des soins de santé et le bien-être général de ces communautés. Les universités et les établissements d'enseignement postsecondaire peuvent remédier à ces difficultés grâce à la recherche, à l'information et à la mobilisation de la communauté.

Je vais maintenant aborder quelques points clés.

Premièrement, la formation des professionnels de la santé : L'un des enjeux les plus pressants est la pénurie de professionnels de la santé qui maîtrisent les langues minoritaires. Les universités peuvent combler cette lacune en intégrant la formation linguistique aux programmes liés à la santé. Par exemple, l'Institut des langues officielles et du bilinguisme de l'Université d'Ottawa offre des programmes d'immersion en français ainsi que des certificats pour les fournisseurs de soins de santé bilingues. L'enjeu principal de l'université est le financement et le soutien de ces programmes.

Deuxièmement, l'enseignement interdisciplinaire : les universités peuvent favoriser la collaboration interdisciplinaire, qui est essentielle pour s'attaquer à des problèmes de santé complexes. Cette approche garantit que les diplômés comprennent non seulement les aspects cliniques des soins de santé, mais aussi les nuances culturelles et linguistiques qui ont une incidence sur les soins fournis aux patients.

Enfin, les programmes de santé bilingues et plurilingues : la création d'un plus grand nombre de programmes de santé bilingues au sein des universités peut attirer des étudiants qui parlent déjà des langues minoritaires et leur fournir un soutien et une formation supplémentaires. La plupart des programmes de sciences de la santé en dehors du Québec soient offerts en anglais, mais plusieurs sont offerts en français et un plus petit nombre sont bilingues. La formation linguistique des futurs professionnels de la santé ne doit pas être minimisée. Des bourses et des incitatifs financiers pourraient encourager davantage les étudiants à suivre ces programmes, et remédier à la pénurie de professionnels de la santé bilingues.

En conclusion, les établissements postsecondaires jouent un rôle essentiel dans l'amélioration des services de santé dans la langue de la minorité en offrant une formation linguistique aux professionnels de la santé, en menant des recherches, en favorisant la collaboration interdisciplinaire et en intervenant auprès des communautés. En investissant dans ces domaines, nous pouvons faire en sorte que tous les Canadiens, quelle que soit leur langue, puissent mieux participer à leurs propres soins de santé, acquérir de l'autonomie et ressentir le sentiment de dignité et de respect que nous méritons tous. Les droits linguistiques sont des droits de la personne.

Merci.

The Chair: Thank you so much, Ms. Valenzuela.

[Translation]

Dr. François, the floor is now yours, and we're ready to hear your opening remarks.

Dr. José François, Provincial Chief Medical Officer, Shared Health, and Associate Professor, Department of Family Medicine, Max Rady College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, As an individual: Ladies and gentlemen of the Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages, I'd like to thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today on the issue of the delivery of health services in minority language communities.

I would particularly like to emphasize the importance of training French-speaking health care professionals in these communities by sharing with you our experience in Manitoba.

I'm a family physician and currently hold the position of Provincial Chief Medical Officer at Common Care. Since entering practice in 1999, I have been actively working to set up programs to train bilingual physicians and improve French-language health services in Manitoba.

As we all know, language is not simply a means of communication; it is a fundamental aspect of one's identity and well-being. Ensuring that minority language communities have access to health care services in their own language remains a major challenge, particularly for francophone communities outside Quebec.

The importance of providing health care services in one's own language cannot be overstated. Language barriers can lead to misunderstandings, misdiagnoses, poorer adherence to treatment plans, and ultimately poorer health outcomes for individuals from minority language communities.

A crucial step in addressing this issue is the training of an adequate number of bilingual health care professionals in minority language communities.

By promoting localized initiatives to train and retain French-speaking health care professionals in these communities, not only can we improve access to French-language health care services, but we can also strengthen the sense of belonging and cultural identity of minority francophone populations.

These initiatives can take many forms, from targeted efforts to partnerships between universities, health care institutions and community organizations. In Manitoba, we're using a variety of approaches, health career promotion activities with our partners in the Consortium national de formation en santé, the CNFS, university-to-university agreements to promote the return to

Le président : Merci beaucoup, madame Valenzuela.

[Français]

Docteur François, la parole est maintenant à vous, et nous sommes prêts à entendre vos remarques préliminaires.

Dr José François, chef provincial du service médical, Soins communs, et professeur agrégé du Département de médecine familiale, Collège de médecine Max Rady, Université du Manitoba, à titre personnel : Mesdames et messieurs les membres du Comité sénatorial permanent des langues officielles, je vous remercie de l'occasion de m'adresser à vous aujourd'hui sur la question de la prestation des services de santé dans les communautés linguistiques minoritaires.

J'aimerais particulièrement mettre l'accent sur l'importance de la formation des professionnels de santé francophones au sein de ces communautés en partageant avec vous notre expérience au Manitoba.

Je suis médecin de famille; j'occupe actuellement le rôle de médecin en chef provincial à Soins communs. Depuis mon entrée en pratique en 1999, je travaille activement à la mise en place de programmes pour la formation de médecins bilingues et à l'amélioration des services de santé en français au Manitoba.

Comme nous le savons tous, la langue n'est pas simplement un moyen de communication; elle est un aspect fondamental de l'identité et du bien-être de chacun. Garantir aux communautés linguistiques minoritaires l'accès à des services de santé dans leur propre langue demeure un défi de taille, en particulier pour les communautés francophones à l'extérieur du Québec.

L'importance de fournir des services de santé dans sa propre langue ne peut être surestimée. Les barrières linguistiques peuvent entraîner des malentendus, des erreurs de diagnostic, une moins bonne adhésion au plan de traitement, et, en fin de compte, des résultats de santé plus médiocres pour les individus issus des communautés linguistiques minoritaires.

L'une des étapes cruciales pour aborder cette question est la formation d'un nombre adéquat de professionnels de la santé bilingues au sein des communautés linguistiques minoritaires.

En favorisant des initiatives localisées pour former et retenir des professionnels de la santé francophones dans ces communautés, nous pouvons non seulement améliorer l'accès aux services de santé en français, mais aussi renforcer le sentiment d'appartenance et l'identité culturelle des populations francophones minoritaires.

Ces initiatives peuvent prendre de nombreuses formes, qui vont des efforts ciblés aux partenariats entre universités, établissements de santé et organisations communautaires. Dans le contexte manitobain, nous exploitons une variété d'approches, des activités de promotion de carrières en santé avec nos partenaires du Consortium national de formation en santé, le

training in external programs, as with the universities of Ottawa or Sherbrooke, and targeted programming within the University of Manitoba's Faculty of Medicine, including undergraduate programming in an English-language training program and a family medicine residency program that is quite unique in western Canada.

Without a doubt, our local activities aimed at bilingual training in family medicine have had a great impact, both in terms of the number of learners and the eventual offer of French-language services in our province.

Training can't be carried out without considering the local organization of services. It's often said that "the clinic is the curriculum." The presence of clinical settings where there is an active offer of services in French and where there is a concentration of bilingual professionals is an important factor for success.

By investing in the training of French-speaking health care professionals in minority language communities, we can help build a more inclusive and equitable health care system that meets the needs of all Canadians, whatever their language.

What's more, by supporting the training of French-speaking health care professionals in minority language communities, we can also help address broader health care workforce challenges, such as recruitment and retention in rural and underserved areas.

These initiatives have the potential not only to improve access to health care services for francophone minority populations, but also to strengthen the resilience and overall sustainability of the health care system.

Thank you for your attention. I look forward to the discussions and possible recommendations that will come out of your study.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Dr. François. We'll now open the floor to questions. I'll remind my colleagues that we agreed on five minutes for questions and answers. If time permits, we'll have a second round.

I'll give the floor to Senator Moncion first.

Senator Moncion: Thank you to both witnesses. Dr. François, my first question is for you and concerns something you just mentioned about the concentration of health care personnel in an active offer of services in French. During the pandemic, I think we became effective in offering services virtually, where patients had the opportunity to meet with health care professionals

CNFS, des accords interuniversitaires pour favoriser le retour à la formation dans les programmes externes, comme avec les universités d'Ottawa ou de Sherbrooke, et de la programmation ciblée au sein de la Faculté de médecine de l'Université du Manitoba, notamment une programmation prédoctorale dans le contexte d'un programme de formation en anglais et un programme de résidence en médecine familiale plutôt unique dans l'Ouest canadien.

Sans aucun doute, nos activités locales visant la formation bilingue en médecine familiale ont eu un grand impact, tant pour le nombre d'apprenants que pour l'offre éventuelle de services en français dans notre province.

Le travail de formation ne peut se faire sans considérer l'organisation locale des services. On dit souvent que « la clinique est le curriculum ». La présence de milieux cliniques où on retrouve une offre active de services en français et où il y a une concentration de professionnels bilingues est un facteur important de succès.

En investissant dans la formation de professionnels de la santé francophones au sein des communautés linguistiques minoritaires, nous pouvons contribuer à construire un système de santé plus inclusif et équitable qui répond aux besoins de tous les Canadiens, quelle que soit leur langue.

De plus, en soutenant la formation de professionnels de la santé francophones dans les communautés linguistiques minoritaires, nous pouvons également contribuer à relever des défis plus larges liés à la main-d'œuvre en santé, comme le recrutement et la rétention dans les régions rurales et sous-desservies.

Ces initiatives ont le potentiel non seulement d'améliorer l'accès aux services de santé pour les populations francophones minoritaires, mais aussi de renforcer la résilience et la durabilité globale du système de santé.

Je vous remercie de votre attention, et j'attends avec impatience les discussions et éventuellement les recommandations qui émaneront de votre étude.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, docteur François. Nous allons passer à la période des questions. Je rappelle à mes collègues que nous nous sommes entendus sur une période de cinq minutes pour les questions et les réponses. Nous ferons un deuxième tour de table si le temps nous le permet.

Je vais d'abord donner la parole à la sénatrice Moncion.

La sénatrice Moncion : Merci aux deux témoins. Docteur François, ma première question s'adresse à vous et concerne quelque chose que vous venez de mentionner au sujet de la concentration de personnel de la santé dans une offre active de services en français. Durant la pandémie, je pense qu'on est devenu efficace dans les services offerts virtuellement, où les

virtually and to receive diagnoses or access tests in hospital. I think a certain degree of efficiency was achieved during that period.

In your setting, how do you see the future of virtual when you have a concentration of professionals present in a given location, within a province, in francophone minority communities, who would be able to offer services in French to people without being physically present in the same place?

How do you factor this into your future plans?

Dr. François: In fact, virtual has become a widely used tool. In my own family medicine practice, I would say that 30% of visits are virtual, which allows us to provide services more quickly. I also see it as complementary to our in-person work. People need to travel less often. We can deal with geographic problems.

In offering services in French in Manitoba, for example, we're taking a close look at virtual services to improve access, particularly in mental health disciplines. It's a mode of communication that lends itself very well to professionals, such as mental health counsellors, psychologists and psychiatrists. We're actively looking at how we can ensure that these services are available to geographically more isolated communities, and in particular to our linguistic minority communities.

I think there's still a need for in-person services, and the concentration of services is important for our learners. There's no substitute for entering a clinic where the work is done in French and where learners can communicate with other professionals. Those are my thoughts on the matter.

Senator Moncion: Ms. Valenzuela?

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: I agree with Dr. François that it wouldn't be fair if minority speakers only had virtual visits whereas majority speakers had access to both. Further training of health professionals — not just the doctor, as he was saying, but the technicians and all aspects of health care — is needed. Virtual visits can help so that you can access your minority language, but to make things fair, people should have the option — I'm not sure if I'm answering your question — of having not just virtual if they want to be cared for in their first language but having access to both. That is very important.

patients avaient l'occasion de rencontrer des professionnels de la santé de façon virtuelle et de recevoir des diagnostics ou d'avoir accès à des tests en milieu hospitalier. Je crois qu'un certain degré d'efficacité a été atteint durant cette période.

Dans votre milieu, comment regardez-vous l'avenir du virtuel lorsque vous avez une concentration de professionnels qui sont présents dans un endroit donné, à l'intérieur d'une province, dans des milieux minoritaires francophones, qui seraient en mesure d'offrir des services en français à des gens sans qu'ils soient présents physiquement au même endroit?

Comment intégrez-vous cela dans les projets d'avenir?

Dr François : En fait, le virtuel est devenu un outil très utilisé. Dans ma propre pratique en médecine familiale, je dirais que 30 % des visites se font de façon virtuelle, ce qui nous permet d'offrir des services plus rapidement. Je le vois aussi comme un service complémentaire à notre travail en personne. Les gens ont besoin de se déplacer moins souvent. On peut aborder des problèmes de type géographique.

Dans l'offre de services en français, au Manitoba, par exemple, on regarde beaucoup l'offre de services virtuels pour améliorer l'accès, notamment dans les disciplines en matière de santé mentale. C'est un mode de communication qui s'y prête très bien pour les professionnels, soit les conseillers en santé mentale, les psychologues et les psychiatres, entre autres. On regarde activement comment on peut assurer l'offre de ces services pour les communautés géographiquement plus isolées, et en particulier pour nos communautés minoritaires linguistiques.

Je pense qu'il y a quand même un besoin d'avoir de l'offre de services en personne, et la concentration de services est importante pour nos apprenants. Rien ne remplace le fait d'entrer dans une clinique où le travail se fait en français et où les apprenants peuvent communiquer avec d'autres professionnels. Ce sont mes pensées sur cette question.

La sénatrice Moncion : Madame Valenzuela?

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Je suis d'accord avec le Dr François pour dire qu'il ne serait pas juste que les personnes qui parlent une langue minoritaire n'aient accès qu'à des visites virtuelles alors que les locuteurs majoritaires ont accès aux deux. Une formation plus poussée des professionnels de la santé — pas seulement des médecins, comme il le disait, mais aussi des techniciens et de tous les aspects des soins de santé — est nécessaire. Le virtuel peut effectivement aider à accéder à la langue minoritaire, mais pour que les choses soient équitables, les gens ne devraient pas être limités — je ne sais pas si je réponds à votre question — à des visites virtuelles s'ils veulent être soignés dans leur première langue. Ils devraient avoir accès aux deux. C'est très important.

Senator Moncion: I'll go further with my train of thought. You said that it was a question of respect and dignity for people to be able to describe their problem in their own language. The way I see the virtual aspect in the future is where doctors have access to professionals who can speak the language of the patient.

Ms. Valenzuela: Right.

Senator Moncion: The patient might be in an office with a doctor and there might be a language issue where the doctor, who for example, speaks only English, can have access to professionals on a virtual basis where the patient is explaining to the francophone doctors what the situation is and where there is a collaboration between doctors. I would see the same in the university environment, where we create these connecting systems where language may not be a barrier anymore. We would not be using iPads for translation. You could actually have access to people who speak the language and can help. That's where I see the evolution in the future.

Ms. Valenzuela: That's probably where it's going. The problem is that some people might not feel comfortable because they want the direct contact with the doctor. Having the intervention of someone else in the meeting may not give them as much ownership. I'm a language professional; I'm not a health professional. Again, I'm looking at it from the language point of view and, sort of, the ethics. But certainly having a health team that helps the person and having one team member who does speak the language, of course, that would be better than not having access to anything. It's better than nothing, but is that what we want? In the studies that I've read on this topic, direct contact with the doctor, direct access, not through someone else, really reduces the anxiety.

[Translation]

Senator Aucoin: Ms. Valenzuela, could you tell us more about the fact that universities should offer more language courses to people working in the health care field? I was wondering what we, as senators, could do or what the government could do to make this more accessible. I can understand why students might be reluctant to spend more time in school or university learning a second language. Are students open to this possibility? Will that training become mandatory? I have several questions about this.

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: Well, certainly, we do not want to discourage anyone from going into health care or health sciences. Making something obligatory would probably not be ideal, but we should be encouraging the people who do have even a little training in the other language to explore that. Even if

La sénatrice Moncion : Je vais aller plus loin dans ma réflexion. Vous avez dit que le fait de pouvoir décrire ses problèmes dans sa propre langue était une question de respect et de dignité. Quand je pense au futur du virtuel, j'imagine que les médecins auront accès à des professionnels qui parleront la langue du patient.

Mme Valenzuela : D'accord.

La sénatrice Moncion : Le patient pourrait se trouver dans le cabinet d'un médecin et être confronté à un problème de langue, par exemple lorsque le médecin ne parle que l'anglais. Ce médecin pourrait alors accéder de façon virtuelle à des professionnels francophones pour que le patient leur explique sa situation, et collaborer avec eux. Je pense qu'il en va de même dans l'environnement universitaire, où nous créons ces systèmes connectés dans lesquels la langue n'est plus un obstacle. Nous n'utiliserions pas d'iPads pour la traduction. Vous pourriez en fait avoir accès à des personnes qui parlent la langue et qui peuvent vous aider. C'est l'évolution que j'imagine.

Mme Valenzuela : C'est probablement la voie à suivre. Le problème est que certaines personnes peuvent ne pas se sentir à l'aise parce qu'elles veulent un contact direct avec le médecin. L'intervention d'une autre personne lors de la visite ne leur permettra peut-être pas de s'approprier le processus. Je suis langagière, je ne suis pas une professionnelle de la santé. Encore une fois, je me place du point de vue de la langue et, en quelque sorte, de l'éthique. Mais le fait d'avoir une équipe de santé qui aide la personne et que l'un des membres de l'équipe parle sa langue serait évidemment préférable au fait de ne pas avoir accès à quoi que ce soit. Cela vaut mieux que rien, mais est-ce ce que nous voulons? Les études que j'ai lues sur ce sujet indiquent que le contact direct avec le médecin, l'accès direct, sans passer par quelqu'un d'autre, réduit réellement l'anxiété.

[Français]

Le sénateur Aucoin : Madame Valenzuela, pourriez-vous nous en dire plus par rapport au fait que les universités devraient offrir plus de cours de langue aux gens œuvrant dans le domaine de la santé? Je me demandais ce que nous, sénateurs, pourrions faire ou ce que le gouvernement pourrait faire pour que tout cela soit plus accessible. Je peux comprendre pourquoi les étudiants pourraient être réticents à devoir passer plus de temps sur les bancs d'école ou d'université pour apprendre une deuxième langue. Les étudiants sont-ils ouverts à cette possibilité? Cette formation deviendra-t-elle obligatoire? J'ai plusieurs questions à ce sujet.

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Nous ne voulons assurément décourager personne de se lancer dans les soins de santé ou les sciences de la santé. Le fait de rendre quelque chose obligatoire ne serait probablement pas la solution idéale, mais nous devrions encourager les personnes qui ont, ne serait-ce qu'une petite

they're not top-level, near native-speaker-like — sorry, we're not supposed to say that — if they're not an L1-proficient speaker of French or English but they really make the effort and understand, that just puts the patient at ease.

Having the option of language training and encouraging that and saying that this is a good thing because you can serve more people and be more inclusive that way and having some scholarships or some incentives would encourage people to pursue their bilingualism or to explore that side or pursue the combining of language with health services. It is important to have them both together.

[Translation]

Dr. François: I can give you a tangible example. At the University of Manitoba, a significant number of francophiles are admitted every year. These are anglophones who have studied in French immersion, who may have dropped out of high school or who have completed their bachelor of science in English and are feeling a little rusty. These people are reluctant to take a medical course in French only. However, we're keen to pick up those of them who are admitted to the University of Manitoba's Faculty of Medicine, which is an English-language program.

We have set up a refresher course for that population. We have a course called Professional Medical French. This program teaches terminology. It consists of several sessions and is offered during the two pre-clinical years. This course focuses specifically on clinical interviews. We're not talking about scientific terms, but about the vocabulary used in day-to-day practice. There are simulations where students do their clinical interviews with simulated patients. They even do clinical examinations. Students tell us that this training is an asset because it gives them more practice with clinical interviewing. They feel more comfortable when it comes to exams than their colleagues who only do so in English, so there's added value for these students. This training gives them some comfort, and they don't hesitate when they arrive at the clinic. They have a certain amount of preparation. They can be assigned patients and are less hesitant about working in our environment.

So there are strategies; perhaps other places in Canada could use similar strategies for their francophile students.

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: That is very similar to our French immersion program that we have at the University of Ottawa. It is content-based. You're not just doing *les fiches d'évaluation* and things

formation dans l'autre langue à envisager cette possibilité. Même si ces personnes ne sont pas parfaitement à l'aise dans l'autre langue — désolée, nous ne sommes pas censés dire cela —, si elles ne parlent pas couramment le français ou l'anglais, mais qu'elles font vraiment l'effort de comprendre, cela met le patient à l'aise.

Nous devrions offrir la possibilité de suivre une formation linguistique, encourager cette démarche et dire aux personnes que ces compétences leur permettraient de servir plus de patients et d'être plus inclusives. Nous devrions également offrir des bourses ou des incitatifs pour encourager les gens à devenir bilingues ou à améliorer leur bilinguisme, ou à conjuguer la langue et les services de santé. Il est important de conjuguer les deux.

[Français]

Dr François : Je peux vous donner un exemple tangible. À l'Université du Manitoba, on admet chaque année un nombre important de francophiles. Ce sont des anglophones qui ont étudié en immersion française, qui ont peut-être abandonné au secondaire ou qui ont fait leur baccalauréat en sciences en anglais et qui se sentent un peu rouillés. Ces personnes hésitent à suivre un cours de médecine uniquement en français. Toutefois, on tient à récupérer ceux d'entre eux qui sont admis à la Faculté de médecine de l'Université du Manitoba, qui est un programme en anglais.

Nous avons mis sur pied une formation d'appoint pour cette population. Nous offrons un cours qui s'intitule Professional Medical French. Dans ce programme, on enseigne la terminologie. Il se compose de plusieurs sessions et est offert durant les deux années précliniques. Dans ce cours, on fait plus particulièrement des entrevues cliniques. On ne parle pas de termes scientifiques, mais du vocabulaire utilisé en pratique au quotidien. On fait des simulations où les étudiants pratiquent leur entrevue clinique avec des patients simulés. Ils font même des examens cliniques. Les étudiants nous disent que cette formation est un atout, car elle leur permet de pratiquer davantage l'entrevue clinique. Ils se sentent plus confortables quand vient le temps des examens que leurs collègues qui le font uniquement en anglais. Il y a donc une plus-value pour ces étudiants. Cette formation leur apporte un certain confort et ils n'hésitent pas quand ils arrivent en clinique. Ils jouissent d'une certaine préparation. On peut leur confier des patients et ils hésitent moins à travailler dans notre milieu.

Il existe donc des stratégies; peut-être que d'autres endroits au Canada pourraient utiliser des stratégies semblables pour leurs étudiants francophiles.

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Cela ressemble beaucoup au programme d'immersion en français de l'Université d'Ottawa. Il est basé sur le contenu. On ne se contente pas de faire des fiches de

like that, but you're a francophile and you want to practise your French within the content of the courses you're taking. It really reduces linguistic anxiety. As you can tell from my French accent, I'm also a product of French immersion. Sometimes I feel bad about my accent. This program helps to reduce linguistic anxiety because it helps you practise using the vocabulary you're used to in the area in which you're studying. It's a very good program.

[Translation]

Senator Aucoin: Thank you very much. This type of program should and probably could be extended not only to medical schools, but to all areas of the profession.

I'll go back to my original question. You mentioned the word "scholarships." What can the federal government do? That's sort of why we're here. What can be recommended?

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: Scholarships or reduced tuition fees, for example. Incentives like that are really nice because tuition is very expensive. It's hard for students. It's a sacrifice to go to university. Any kind of tuition rebate would be wonderful, any recognition like that or anything that would give an edge to look for a job later. If we're really putting value on bilingual health care professionals, a certificate showing someone is bilingual should help them and give them a boost when looking for jobs in Canada.

Dr. François: There certainly is some additional cost to that additional training. Medical schools do need to invest. Financial support is needed to train the group of standardized patients you may be using or to find the additional teacher capacity to provide those French-language development courses.

At the University of Manitoba, we also invite students in our physician assistant program, and we've invited physiotherapists who work under our broader faculty of health sciences to join our medical students. There is an opportunity to really make this interprofessional and to tailor the content based on the groups.

[Translation]

The Chair: I have a follow-up question. We heard in committee that some doctors who can offer services in both languages don't do so because of work overload. Is this a reality you encounter in hospital settings? I'm thinking of Dr. François

réévaluation et autres, mais on est francophile et on souhaite pratiquer son français dans le cadre du contenu des cours que l'on suit. Cette démarche réduit réellement l'anxiété linguistique. Comme vous pouvez le constater à mon accent en français, je suis également un produit de l'immersion en français. Parfois, je me sens mal à l'aise avec mon accent. Ce programme aide à réduire l'anxiété linguistique parce que vous pouvez vous entraîner à utiliser le vocabulaire auquel vous êtes habitué dans votre domaine d'étude. C'est un très bon programme.

[Français]

Le sénateur Aucoin : Merci beaucoup. Ce genre de programme devrait et pourrait probablement s'étendre non seulement aux écoles de médecine, mais à tous les secteurs de la profession.

Je reviens à ma question initiale. Vous avez mentionné le mot « bourses ». Que peut faire le gouvernement fédéral? C'est un peu la raison pour laquelle nous sommes ici. Que peut-on recommander?

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Des bourses d'études ou des réductions des frais de scolarité, par exemple. Ce type d'incitatif est très appréciable, car les frais de scolarité sont très élevés. C'est difficile pour les étudiants. C'est un sacrifice d'aller à l'université. Toute forme de réduction des frais de scolarité serait formidable, toute reconnaissance de ce type ou tout ce qui pourrait leur donner un avantage pour la recherche d'un emploi plus tard. Si nous accordons vraiment de l'importance aux professionnels de la santé bilingues, un certificat attestant qu'une personne est bilingue devrait être utile et donner un coup de pouce pour la recherche d'un emploi au Canada.

Dr François : Cette formation additionnelle a assurément un coût supplémentaire. Les facultés de médecine doivent investir. Un soutien financier est nécessaire pour former le groupe de patients normalisés que vous pouvez utiliser ou pour trouver des enseignants supplémentaires pour dispenser ces cours de perfectionnement en français.

À l'Université du Manitoba, nous invitons également les étudiants de notre programme d'adjoints aux médecins, et nous avons invité les physiothérapeutes qui travaillent au sein de notre faculté des sciences de la santé à se joindre à nos étudiants en médecine. Il est possible de rendre le programme réellement interprofessionnel et d'adapter le contenu en fonction des groupes.

[Français]

Le président : J'ai une question complémentaire. On a entendu en comité que certains médecins qui peuvent offrir des services dans les deux langues ne le font pas pour des motifs de surcharge de travail. Est-ce une réalité que vous rencontrez dans

in particular, but, of course, you can answer the question. Is that a reality? If so, how do you see this challenge being addressed?

Dr. François: Maybe it's not because of the work overload. I think it's more a question of trust. Some people have done part of their training in French, or they have an average command of French, and they may be concerned about making a mistake because they lack confidence in their linguistic ability. Others simply don't identify themselves as French speakers.

In the Canadian context, there are many people with family names that make it impossible to tell if they are francophone. If they don't make it known, it's a lost opportunity to use French.

[English]

The Chair: Is there something in terms of strategy or in terms of linguistic training? Ms. Valenzuela, is there something that you think could be improved?

Ms. Valenzuela: Based upon what he said, the idea of worrying about making a mistake, that is also linguistic anxiety. With additional training, such as French immersion or that sort of support, that content-based training, would help assuage that anxiety.

Dr. François: Health care institutions can also promote that this is an added value to their institution. That messaging by hospitals or health care organizations that this is an important piece of the care they provide also has a facilitating factor in this.

[Translation]

Senator Mégie: I'd like to thank the witnesses for being with us today.

My first question is for Dr. François. You mentioned the various methods that the University of Manitoba has tried to put in place, such as training French-speaking doctors and inter-university agreements with the Université de Sherbrooke, among others, to improve and increase the number of French-speaking health care providers. Have you been able to measure the success rate of these various methods in terms of retaining French-speaking professionals? Are there other indicators that could help you measure this success rate?

Dr. François: That's a very good question. At the University of Manitoba, we recently looked at the retention rate of our students in our bilingual family medicine program. Our retention rate was very similar to the rate of our anglophone sites, when you exclude people who come from outside. Where I come from,

les milieux hospitaliers? Je pense notamment au Dr François, mais, évidemment, vous pouvez répondre à la question. Est-ce une réalité? Si oui, à votre avis, comment pourrait-on s'occuper de ce défi?

Dr François : Ce n'est peut-être pas à cause de la surcharge de travail. Je crois plutôt que c'est une question de confiance. Certaines personnes ont suivi une partie de leur formation en français ou elles ont une maîtrise moyenne du français, et elles sont peut-être inquiètes de commettre une erreur par manque de confiance en leur capacité linguistique. D'autres ne s'affichent tout simplement pas comme francophones.

Dans le contexte canadien, il y a beaucoup de personnes qui ont des noms de famille qui ne permettent pas de savoir s'ils sont francophones. S'ils ne s'affichent pas, c'est une occasion perdue d'utiliser le français.

[Traduction]

Le président : Pensez-vous à certains éléments liés à la stratégie ou à la formation linguistique? Madame Valenzuela, y a-t-il quelque chose à améliorer?

Mme Valenzuela : Pour revenir à ce qu'il a dit, l'idée de s'inquiéter de commettre une erreur crée également de l'anxiété linguistique. Une formation supplémentaire, comme l'immersion en français ou ce type de soutien, cette formation basée sur le contenu, permettrait d'apaiser cette anxiété.

Dr François : Les établissements de soins de santé peuvent également promouvoir cette valeur ajoutée pour leur établissement. Le fait que les hôpitaux ou les organismes de soins de santé fassent savoir qu'il s'agit d'un élément important des soins qu'ils fournissent constitue également un facteur de facilitation.

[Français]

La sénatrice Mégie : Je remercie les témoins d'être avec nous aujourd'hui.

Ma première question s'adresse au Dr François. Vous avez parlé des différentes méthodes que l'Université du Manitoba a essayé de mettre en place, comme la formation des médecins en français et les accords interuniversitaires conclus notamment avec l'Université de Sherbrooke, afin d'améliorer et d'augmenter le nombre de prestataires de soins de santé en français. Avez-vous pu mesurer le taux de réussite de ces différentes méthodes par rapport à la rétention des professionnels francophones? Y a-t-il d'autres indicateurs qui pourraient vous aider à mesurer ce taux de succès?

Dr François : C'est une très bonne question. À l'Université du Manitoba, on a examiné récemment le taux de rétention de nos étudiants dans notre programme de médecine familiale bilingue. Notre taux de rétention était très semblable au taux de nos sites anglophones, lorsqu'on exclut les gens qui viennent de

the main retention factor.... Often, if the person isn't from Manitoba and comes to study in Manitoba, we tend to lose those people.

We were interested in the number of French-speaking graduates who work in a francophone context. For us, that was the largest measure, and we saw that about 80% of our graduates from the bilingual program worked in a bilingual or francophone setting in Manitoba. For us, it's a guarantee of success to train our own people so that we can retain the vast majority of these people.

We asked them if they used French often. More than half responded that they used French every day; 35% said they used French several times a week; 10% said they used it occasionally. We therefore found that the majority of our graduates working in a francophone context were using their language skills.

Senator Mégie: That's very interesting. Is there a way to extend your strategies to other provinces? Ms. Valenzuela mentioned earlier that there are other initiatives at the University of Ottawa. Is there a way of transferring this approach to other provinces that might have similar results to yours? What do you think?

Dr. François: In the Canadian context, communities with a high concentration of francophones could replicate what we have done. In a community like Edmonton, there's a francophone health care centre that could provide training and residency training, and do somewhat the same thing as we do. You'd think that, in Saskatchewan, with its high concentration of francophones, there would be places where you could do the same thing. There are also other communities in Ontario, probably, as well as in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.

Senator Mégie: Ms. Valenzuela, when I listen to you speak, I get the impression that all of these are wishes. Have you already tried them out and found they didn't work, or are you going to put them into practice?

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: They are part wishes and part reality. The reality is that we do have French immersion programs that accompany undergraduate health sciences programs and other programs around the university. We do have an agreement with a master's program in health sciences as well. That is all wonderful, but the thing is that we just keep getting cutbacks. In order to maintain this, we need funding and support. We do have it and, at my institute, we are committed to language training, support and research. All we want is to provide the service and to expand it.

l'externe. Chez nous, le grand facteur de rétention... Souvent, si la personne n'est pas originaire du Manitoba et vient étudier au Manitoba, on a tendance à perdre ces personnes.

On s'est intéressé au nombre de nos diplômés francophones qui travaillent dans un contexte francophone. Pour nous, c'était la plus grande mesure et on voyait qu'à peu près 80 % de nos diplômés qui ont fait le programme bilingue travaillaient dans un contexte bilingue ou francophone au Manitoba. Pour nous, c'est un gage de succès de former nos propres gens pour qu'on puisse retenir la grande majorité de ces personnes.

Nous leur avons demandé s'ils utilisaient souvent le français. Plus de la moitié nous ont répondu qu'ils utilisaient le français tous les jours; 35 % ont mentionné qu'ils utilisaient le français plusieurs fois par semaine; 10 % ont dit qu'ils l'utilisaient à l'occasion. On a donc constaté que la majorité de nos diplômés travaillant dans un contexte francophone utilisait leur capacité linguistique.

La sénatrice Mégie : C'est très intéressant. Y a-t-il une façon d'étendre vos stratégies à d'autres provinces? Mme Valenzuela a mentionné plus tôt qu'il y a d'autres initiatives mises en œuvre à l'Université d'Ottawa. Y a-t-il moyen de transférer cette approche à d'autres provinces qui pourraient avoir des résultats similaires aux vôtres? Qu'en pensez-vous?

Dr François : Dans le contexte canadien, les communautés qui ont une grande concentration de francophones pourraient reproduire ce que l'on a fait. Dans une communauté comme Edmonton, il y a un centre de santé francophone qui pourrait faire de la formation et de la formation en résidence et faire un peu la même chose que nous. On pourrait penser qu'en Saskatchewan, à cause d'une grande concentration de francophones, il y a des endroits où l'on pourrait faire la même chose. Il y a également d'autres communautés en Ontario, probablement, ainsi qu'en Nouvelle-Écosse et au Nouveau-Brunswick.

La sénatrice Mégie : Madame Valenzuela, quand je vous écoute parler, j'ai l'impression que tout cela, ce sont des vœux. Est-ce que vous les avez déjà expérimentés et cela n'a pas fonctionné? Allez-vous plutôt les mettre en pratique?

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Il s'agit en partie de vœux et en partie de réalité. La réalité est que nous avons des programmes d'immersion en français qui accompagnent les programmes de premier cycle en sciences de la santé et d'autres programmes de l'université. Nous avons également conclu un accord avec un programme de maîtrise en sciences de la santé. Tout cela est merveilleux, mais nous ne cessons de subir des coupes budgétaires. Pour pouvoir continuer, nous avons besoin de financement et de soutien. Nous en avons et, dans mon institut, nous sommes engagés dans la formation linguistique, le soutien

In the pathways programs that we have, international students come and take our language courses before they enter into their undergraduate degrees. That is what we want to do. In terms of my wishes or my suggestions, yes, it is the incentives to students to make it more available for everyone, as many people as want it.

Attracting students, as Dr. François was saying, who are francophile and who have gone through the immersion program, attracting those students as well, especially in the region here, would be an easy way to expand the bilingual services.

[Translation]

Senator Mégie: Thank you very much to you both.

Senator Clement: Good evening, and thank you to the witnesses. My questions are for our two witnesses. I'll ask them and then let you answer them.

My first question is for Dr. François. Thank you for mentioning the importance of strengthening the sense of belonging, because it's really the key to everything that ails us; truly.

You mentioned community organizations, and the testimony we've heard so far has often reminded us that it's organizations that play the role of bridge or identify where there are gaps. Can you tell us about the involvement of community organizations? You also talked about targeted programming, a bilingual residency that's unique in western Canada. Could you tell us about that? That would be very much appreciated.

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela, thank you for mentioning your dad. It is interesting. My mother tongue is French. I am bilingual, but when I came out of surgery, I just wanted to speak French. It was visceral. Of course, the English comes back, but when I was vulnerable and just coming out of anesthetic, I only had French. For your dad, being fluently trilingual, it makes sense that he would feel the Spanish.

We are talking about official languages in minority contexts, so I am wondering about what you are saying in terms of other languages.

Ms. Valenzuela: Right.

Senator Clement: You also mentioned engaging with communities and community organizations. Perhaps you could

et la recherche. Tout ce que nous voulons, c'est fournir ce service et l'élargir.

Dans le cadre de nos programmes de formation continue, les étudiants étrangers viennent suivre nos cours de langue avant d'entamer leurs études de premier cycle. C'est ce que nous voulons faire. Pour ce qui est de mes vœux ou de mes suggestions, oui, je pense qu'il faut fournir des incitatifs aux étudiants pour rendre les cours plus accessibles à tous, au plus grand nombre possible.

Comme le disait le Dr François, il faut attirer des étudiants francophiles qui ont suivi le programme d'immersion, attirer ces étudiants également, en particulier dans notre région. Ce serait une façon simple d'élargir l'offre de services bilingues.

[Français]

La sénatrice Mégie : Merci beaucoup à vous deux.

La sénatrice Clement : Bonjour et merci aux témoins. Mes questions s'adressent à nos deux témoins. Je vais les poser et je vais les laisser répondre ensuite.

Ma première question s'adresse au Dr François. Je vous remercie d'avoir mentionné l'importance de renforcer le sens de l'appartenance, car c'est réellement la clé de tout ce qui nous fait mal; vraiment.

Vous avez parlé des organisations communautaires, et les témoignages qu'on a entendus jusqu'à maintenant ont souvent rappelé que ce sont les organisations qui jouent le rôle de pont ou identifient où il y a des lacunes. Pouvez-vous nous parler de l'implication des organismes communautaires? Vous avez parlé également d'une programmation ciblée, d'une résidence bilingue unique dans l'Ouest du Canada. Pourriez-vous nous en parler? Ce serait très apprécié.

[Traduction]

Madame Valenzuela, merci d'avoir parlé de votre père. C'est intéressant. Ma langue maternelle est le français. Je suis bilingue, mais quand je suis sortie de la salle opératoire, j'ai voulu parler français. C'était viscéral. Bien sûr, l'anglais revient, mais lorsque j'étais vulnérable et que je me réveillais de l'anesthésie, je n'avais que le français. Il est logique que votre père, qui est parfaitement trilingue, se sente plus à l'aise en espagnol.

Nous parlons de langues officielles dans des contextes minoritaires, et je m'interroge donc sur ce que vous dites à propos d'autres langues.

Mme Valenzuela : D'accord.

La sénatrice Clement : Vous avez également mentionné la mobilisation des communautés et des organismes

speak to that as well. You started to talk about cultural competence.

I will start with Dr. François and then go to you.

[Translation]

Dr. François: In terms of other community organizations, I think there are two ways forward.

First of all, there's the work that's done in clinical settings. I work in a community health centre in Saint-Boniface, and we work a lot with organizations for newcomers, people in schools and community agencies. So that's part of our clinical work.

What we try to do with our learners, when they are in a clinical setting, is to let them see a bit of what we do in terms of programming. We have the luxury of having a community development agency that liaises with agencies. We make sure that our learners, whether they're a medical student, a resident, a pharmacy student or a nurse practitioner, see that the care goes way beyond what we do in the office. We make sure they have a perspective on activities and encourage them to take part in community activities. That's what we're doing in this area.

We've had a family medicine residency program since 2005. We started with two family medicine residents. We now have five to six per year doing their two-year training. Most of the training takes place at the Centre de santé Saint-Boniface. However, we are working with two rural communities, Sainte-Anne and Notre-Dame. We make sure our students see the variety of francophone contexts, both urban and rural.

A large part of our training is in family medicine. For example, for their work in psychiatry, instead of doing an internship, students work with a French-speaking psychiatrist who does consultation in our community. For geriatric exposure, we do long-term care. Students will follow us to a francophone long-term care centre in Winnipeg. We try to optimize and maximize the time they spend in a setting where they are in contact with francophone patients.

Moreover, we're moving more and more towards teamwork. We work as an interdisciplinary team, with pharmacists, nurses, nurse practitioners, dietitians and mental health counsellors. Recently, we've been welcoming learners from different fields of training. It adds to the richness of our environment to meet professionals from another professional group.

communautaires. Peut-être pourriez-vous nous en parler également. Vous avez commencé à parler de compétence culturelle.

Je vais commencer par le Dr François, puis je passerai à vous.

[Français]

Dr François : En ce qui concerne les autres organisations communautaires, je pense qu'il y a deux voies.

Tout d'abord, il y a le travail qui se fait en milieu clinique. Je travaille notamment dans un centre de santé communautaire à Saint-Boniface et on travaille beaucoup avec des organisations pour les nouveaux arrivants, des gens en milieu scolaire et des agences communautaires. Cela fait donc partie de notre travail clinique.

Ce qu'on essaie de faire avec nos apprenants, lorsqu'ils sont en milieu clinique, c'est qu'ils voient un peu ce qu'on fait en matière de programmation. Nous avons le luxe d'avoir une agence de développement communautaire qui travaille en liaison avec des agences. On s'assure que nos apprenants, que ce soit un étudiant en médecine, un résident, un étudiant en pharmacie ou une infirmière praticienne, voient que les soins vont bien au-delà de ce qu'on fait au bureau. On s'assure qu'ils aient un point de vue des activités et on les encourage à participer à des activités communautaires. C'est ce qu'on fait de ce côté.

Nous avons un programme de résidence en médecine familiale depuis 2005. Nous avons commencé avec deux résidents en médecine familiale. Nous en sommes maintenant à cinq à six par année qui font leur formation de deux ans. Cela se passe surtout au Centre de santé Saint-Boniface. Cependant, on travaille en collaboration avec deux communautés rurales, Sainte-Anne et Notre-Dame. On s'assure que nos étudiants voient la variété des contextes francophones, à la fois urbains et ruraux.

On fait une grande partie de formation en médecine familiale. Par exemple, pour leur travail en psychiatrie, au lieu de faire un stage, les étudiants travaillent avec un psychiatre francophone qui fait de la consultation dans notre milieu. Pour l'exposition en gériatrie, on fait des soins de longue durée. Les étudiants vont nous suivre dans un centre francophone de soins de longue durée à Winnipeg. On tente d'optimiser et de maximiser le temps qu'ils vont passer dans un contexte où ils sont en contact avec des patients francophones.

De plus, on se dirige de plus en plus vers le travail d'équipe. On travaille en équipe interdisciplinaire, donc avec des pharmaciens, des infirmières, des infirmières praticiennes, des diététistes et des conseillères en santé mentale. On reçoit depuis peu des apprenants de différents champs de formation. Cela ajoute à la richesse de notre environnement de rencontrer des professionnels d'un autre groupe professionnel.

Senator Clement: Thank you. Do you work with municipalities to support the programs?

Dr. François: We have contact with the municipalities, especially for service delivery. We've talked to various municipal authorities who are trying to develop their clinics. We have more concentrated service hubs. There are places where we'd like to do more development, where there are fewer professionals and less concentration. We're having discussions with municipal authorities in this context.

Senator Clement: Thank you. Ms. Valenzuela?

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: I think your question was about why we would even discuss the non-official languages. The reality is that I have lived with this my whole life. It is always there. I feel a sense of camaraderie with the French community outside of Quebec in the minority setting. We have the same sort of thing with my parents and what I have lived with them and also with what I study in my research. Of course it's different. An official language is different than an immigrant language. However, in terms of how many services are available to you or that sense that you want to keep your culture and you do not want to lose your identity, it is important to have these services in your minority language. That is why I brought it up. There are many comparisons we can make. It is, I know, fundamentally different, but there are comparisons — absolutely. I thought it was important to mention it.

What was your other question?

Senator Clement: Do you engage with community organizations? How do you do that?

Ms. Valenzuela: I was referring to the idea of experiential learning and working with the community to co-design and create these best practices for health care, let's say, or whatever it is we're talking about specifically. It has been very successful in social innovation and that kind of thing. I think that would be a nice way to have an interdisciplinary approach to problem solving for this.

Senator Clement: It is interesting how many times other languages come up, including Indigenous languages, right? We have two official languages, but belonging to a community is a factor with other languages as well. We are a country of diversity, so I appreciate your comment.

Ms. Valenzuela: The identity piece is a similar thread across.

La sénatrice Clement : Merci. Travaillez-vous avec les municipalités pour appuyer les programmes?

Dr François : On a des contacts avec les municipalités, surtout pour la livraison des services. On a parlé à différentes autorités municipales qui tentent de développer leur clinique. On a des pôles de service plus concentrés. Il y a des endroits où on aimerait faire plus de développement, où il y a moins de professionnels et une moins forte concentration. On a des discussions avec les autorités municipales dans ce contexte.

La sénatrice Clement : Merci. Madame Valenzuela?

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Je pense que votre question portait sur la raison pour laquelle nous discutons des langues non officielles. La réalité est que j'ai vécu avec cela toute ma vie. Cette question a toujours été présente. Je ressens un sentiment de camaraderie avec la communauté francophone hors Québec en milieu minoritaire. C'est un peu la même chose pour mes parents et ce que j'ai vécu avec eux, et dans ce que j'étudie dans le cadre de mes recherches. Bien sûr, c'est différent. Une langue officielle n'est pas une langue d'immigrant. Cependant, en ce qui concerne le nombre de services disponibles ou le fait de vouloir conserver sa culture et de ne pas perdre son identité, il est important que ces services soient disponibles dans votre langue minoritaire. C'est pourquoi j'en ai parlé. On peut faire de nombreuses comparaisons. Je sais que c'est fondamentalement différent, mais il y a des points communs, absolument. J'ai pensé qu'il était important de le mentionner.

Quelle était votre autre question?

La sénatrice Clement : Collaborez-vous avec des organismes communautaires? Comment procédez-vous?

Mme Valenzuela : Je faisais référence à l'idée de l'apprentissage par l'expérience et de la collaboration avec la communauté pour co-concevoir et créer des pratiques exemplaires en matière de soins de santé, disons, ou tout autre sujet dont nous parlons plus spécifiquement. Cette démarche est une grande réussite dans le domaine de l'innovation sociale et dans d'autres domaines de ce genre. Je pense que ce serait une bonne façon de mettre en place une approche interdisciplinaire de la résolution des problèmes dans ce domaine.

La sénatrice Clement : Il est intéressant de constater la fréquence à laquelle d'autres langues sont évoquées, y compris les langues autochtones, n'est-ce pas? Nous avons deux langues officielles, mais l'appartenance à une communauté est également un facteur pour d'autres langues. Nous sommes un pays de diversité, c'est pourquoi je vous remercie de votre commentaire.

Mme Valenzuela : L'élément de l'identité est un fil conducteur qui se retrouve dans l'ensemble du pays.

The Chair: You spoke in your remarks about research. Of course, you are doing research. I would like to hear more about that. Is there enough data in terms of linguistic training, for example, or in terms of this situation? Are there some research studies done in French? I know that is an issue. It might be, in this case, a real issue if we're speaking about linguistic training and linguistic skills. Can you speak to us about this, please?

Ms. Valenzuela: There is research. We have a lab at the university that is primarily francophone — not in my department but in another department — that looks at that. Yes, it is there. It is available. I can make it available. If you would like, I can send it to the clerk afterward and provide you with some refereed articles in French on this topic.

The Chair: We are trying to understand what the federal government can do or does not do enough of.

Ms. Valenzuela: Right.

The Chair: In that direction, do you think something more could be done by the federal government to make sure there is, first of all, research in French, but then to make sure we and you have all the data needed to tackle these problems?

Ms. Valenzuela: Yes. We could always use more data. What can the federal government do? Speaking as a university professor, we need funding to fund these projects. That is what it takes. We have to hire students to help us collect data. We need time to write the articles and analyze data. We need funding. Things have been so stressful and financially sticky at the university in the past few years, especially this past year in Ontario. It would be nice to have more funding and support.

[Translation]

The Chair: Dr. François, do you have anything to add to that? I'll ask you right now: what are the biggest obstacles facing health care professionals who are trained to work in both official languages? What major obstacles do they face in their practice? First of all, though, I'd like to hear what you have to say about research and data.

Dr. François: In terms of research, we don't have very good studies to tell us the optimal way to train students in a minority context. There are some good examples, but there are very few studies that illustrate the results when you take a small number

Le président : Vous avez parlé de recherche dans votre exposé. Bien sûr, vous faites de la recherche. J'aimerais en savoir plus à ce sujet. Existe-t-il suffisamment de données sur la formation linguistique, par exemple, ou sur cette situation? Des études ont-elles été réalisées en français? Je sais que c'est un problème. Il pourrait s'agir, dans ce cas, d'un problème grave si nous parlons de formation linguistique et de compétences linguistiques. Pouvez-vous nous en dire plus à ce sujet?

Mme Valenzuela : Des recherches ont bien été effectuées. Notre université possède un laboratoire qui est principalement francophone — pas dans mon département, mais dans un autre — qui étudie cette question. Oui, ces recherches existent. Elles sont disponibles. Je peux vous les transmettre. Si vous le souhaitez, je pourrais les envoyer à la greffière plus tard et vous fournir des articles en français sur ce sujet, qui ont fait l'objet d'un examen par un comité de lecture.

Le président : Nous essayons de comprendre ce que le gouvernement fédéral peut faire ou ne fait pas suffisamment.

Mme Valenzuela : D'accord.

Le président : Dans cette perspective, pensez-vous que le gouvernement fédéral pourrait faire autre chose pour s'assurer qu'il y ait d'abord de la recherche en français, mais aussi pour veiller à ce que nous disposions tous de toutes les données nécessaires pour nous attaquer à ces enjeux?

Mme Valenzuela : Oui. Nous pourrions toujours avoir plus de données. Que peut faire le gouvernement fédéral? En tant que professeurs d'université, nous avons besoin de fonds pour financer ces projets. C'est ce qu'il nous faut. Nous devons engager des étudiants qui nous aideront à recueillir des données. Nous avons besoin de temps pour rédiger les articles et analyser les données. Nous avons besoin de fonds. La situation est très stressante et financièrement difficile à l'Université ces dernières années, en particulier l'année dernière en Ontario. Il serait bon d'obtenir plus de fonds et de soutien.

[Français]

Le président : Docteur François, est-ce que vous avez quelque chose à ajouter à ce sujet? Je vous pose immédiatement ma question : quels sont les plus grands obstacles que rencontrent les professionnels de la santé qui reçoivent une formation leur permettant de travailler dans les deux langues officielles? Quels sont les obstacles majeurs qu'ils rencontrent dans leur pratique? Cependant, tout d'abord, je voudrais vous entendre sur la question de la recherche et des données.

Dr François : Sur le plan de la recherche, on n'a pas de très bonnes études pour nous indiquer quelle est la façon optimale de former des étudiants dans un contexte minoritaire. On a de beaux exemples, mais il y a très peu d'études qui illustrent les résultats

of students in a minority context and train them in their language. There's little information on that.

However, on the clinical side — we were just talking about virtual services — it would be useful to be able to assess satisfaction and results when delivering services in French. It would also be interesting, when using means that offer in-person services with a virtual complement, to determine the optimal rate of in-person versus virtual for offering services in francophone environments. It would be interesting to look at that. A lot of studies have been done on the health status of francophones. There are deficits. There's work to be done on optimizing service delivery and training.

As far as obstacles are concerned, when we train professionals, we want them to start practising afterwards and have a concentration of French-speaking patients. We have to make sure that, when they start practising medicine, they can serve as many francophones as possible. Often, in our context, there's a shortage. People will take any doctor that's available. It's very difficult for someone just starting out to say that they want to cap their francophone clientele at 50%. It simply becomes difficult in a financial context if you're in private practice, where there are service fees.

When you work in a model or clinic where there's a clear vocation in relation to the service offering, it's much easier to serve a large percentage of French-speaking patients. In the case of specialist physicians — let's say I'm a French-speaking geriatrician — there are challenges, because you don't always have control over who refers patients. There's work to be done to ensure that people in family medicine can easily recognize who is a francophone specialist, to ensure that a francophone patient is served by a francophone health care professional in their language when the opportunity arises.

There might be something to do along those lines.

The Chair: I'm going to ask you my last question right now before giving the floor to someone else. This is the kind of question you ask several witnesses. We're talking about culture, but in your opinion, should language be formalized as a determinant of health? Should the Canada Health Act be amended to clearly include this linguistic dimension? What do you think, Dr. François?

Dr. François: Yes, over the years I've met many patients for whom lack of access to a service in their own language has harmed their health and caused access difficulties, delayed diagnoses and caused problems in adhering to a treatment plan. This is a factor. It impacts their health, ultimately.

lorsque l'on prend un petit nombre d'étudiants dans un contexte minoritaire et qu'on les forme dans leur langue. On a peu d'information là-dessus.

Tout de même, du côté clinique — on parlait justement du virtuel —, ce serait utile de pouvoir évaluer la satisfaction et les résultats lors de livraison des services en français. Ce serait également intéressant, quand on utilise des moyens qui offrent un service en personne avec un complément virtuel, de déterminer quel est le taux optimal du mode présentiel par opposition au mode virtuel pour l'offre de service en milieu francophone. Ce serait intéressant de regarder cela. On a fait beaucoup d'études sur l'état de santé des francophones. Il y a des déficits. Il y a du travail à faire sur l'optimisation de la prestation de services et de la formation.

En ce qui concerne les obstacles, quand on forme des professionnels, on veut qu'ils commencent à exercer par la suite et qu'ils aient une concentration de patients francophones. Il faut s'assurer que, au moment où ils commencent à exercer la médecine, ils peuvent servir autant de francophones que possible. Souvent, dans notre contexte, il y a pénurie. Les gens vont prendre n'importe quel médecin qui est disponible. C'est très difficile pour quelqu'un qui commence sa pratique de dire qu'il veut plafonner à 50 % sa clientèle francophone. Cela devient difficile dans un contexte simplement financier si on est en pratique privée, où il y a des frais de service.

Quand on travaille dans un modèle ou une clinique où il y a une vocation claire par rapport à l'offre de service, c'est beaucoup plus facile de servir une grande tranche de patients francophones. Dans le cas des médecins spécialistes — disons que je suis un gériatre francophone —, il y a des défis, car on n'a pas toujours de contrôle sur la personne qui envoie des patients. Il y a du travail à faire pour s'assurer que les gens en médecine familiale puissent facilement reconnaître qui est un spécialiste francophone, pour faire en sorte qu'un patient francophone soit servi par un professionnel de la santé francophone dans sa langue quand l'occasion se présente.

Il y aurait peut-être du travail de ce genre à faire.

Le président : Je vais vous poser tout de suite ma dernière question avant de donner la parole à quelqu'un d'autre. C'est le genre de questions que l'on pose à plusieurs témoins. On parle de la culture, mais à votre avis, la langue devrait-elle être officialisée comme un déterminant de la santé? La Loi canadienne sur la santé devrait-elle être modifiée pour inclure très clairement cette dimension linguistique? Qu'en pensez-vous, docteur François?

Dr François : Oui, au cours des années, j'ai rencontré beaucoup de patients pour qui le manque d'accès à un service dans leur propre langue a nui à leur santé et a causé des difficultés d'accès, retardé des diagnostics et causé des problèmes dans l'adhésion à un plan de traitement. C'est un

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: I agree. Language is an important part of your mental health, your overall health and your wellness. Speaking your first language and the language that you feel comfortable with immediately puts you at ease, and I think it should be a part of your whole health picture.

The Chair: After Senator Moncion asks her questions, I will ask you to repeat the last sentence of your speech because you said something important. I will ask you that question at the end.

[Translation]

Senator Moncion: My question is for both witnesses. Canada has long been a bilingual country. Bilingualism isn't just for francophones. Those who are born francophone learn to become bilingual — it's almost compulsory — whereas for anglophones, it's not compulsory. My question has to do with the admission criteria for university medical schools: shouldn't being bilingual, before entering university, become a criterion or the main criterion for medical schools?

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela: Again, speaking as linguist, not as a health professional, I think that would be a wonderful way to encourage more bilingualism amongst future health care professionals and doctors. If someone is monolingual and wants to go to med school, good for them. However, it should be incentivized if you are bilingual. That would be a wonderful way to increase the bilingual service.

Senator Moncion: The encouragement has to be provided when kids come into school, not when they are at the medical level and where they are making a career choice.

Ms. Valenzuela: That is right.

Senator Moncion: It might be later.

[Translation]

Dr. François: In our activities to promote a career in health care, we mention that being bilingual is an advantage. It opens doors to a wider range of educational institutions. Francophone or immersion students in Manitoba are reminded that they can apply for medical training at the University of Ottawa or francophone universities in Quebec, for example, in addition to

facteur. Cela a un impact sur le résultat final pour ce qui est de leur santé.

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Je suis d'accord. La langue est un élément important de notre santé mentale, de notre santé globale et de notre bien-être. Le fait de parler sa première langue et la langue dans laquelle on se sent à l'aise nous met immédiatement à l'aise, et je pense que cela devrait faire partie de notre tableau de santé global.

Le président : Lorsque la sénatrice Moncion aura posé ses questions, je vous demanderai de répéter la dernière phrase de vos observations liminaires parce que vous avez dit quelque chose d'important. Je vous poserai cette question à la fin.

[Français]

La sénatrice Moncion : Ma question s'adresse aux deux témoins. Le Canada est un pays bilingue depuis longtemps. Le bilinguisme n'est pas seulement pour les francophones. Ceux qui naissent francophones apprennent à devenir bilingues — c'est presque obligatoire —, alors que pour les anglophones, ce n'est pas une obligation. Ma question porte sur les critères d'admission dans les écoles de médecine des universités : le fait d'être bilingue, avant d'entrer à l'université, ne devrait-il pas devenir un critère ou le principal critère des écoles de médecine?

[Traduction]

Mme Valenzuela : Encore une fois, en tant que linguiste et non en tant que professionnelle de la santé, je pense que ce serait un excellent moyen d'encourager le bilinguisme chez les futurs professionnels de la santé et les médecins. Si quelqu'un est monolingue et veut faire des études de médecine, tant mieux pour lui. Cependant, il devrait y avoir des incitatifs pour les personnes bilingues. Ce serait un excellent moyen d'augmenter l'offre de services bilingues.

La sénatrice Moncion : L'encouragement doit être fourni lorsque les élèves entrent à l'école, et non pas lorsqu'ils sont au niveau médical et qu'ils font un choix de carrière.

Mme Valenzuela : C'est exact.

La sénatrice Moncion : Il se peut que ce soit plus tard.

[Français]

Dr François : Dans nos activités de promotion d'une carrière dans le domaine de la santé, on mentionne que le fait d'être bilingue est un avantage. Cela ouvre les portes à un plus grand éventail d'établissements d'enseignement. On rappelle aux étudiants francophones ou en immersion au Manitoba qu'ils peuvent faire une demande de formation en médecine à

English-language educational institutions. This opens doors for them.

On the question of admissions, at the University of Manitoba, we are currently reflecting on the admission of people who are francophones or francophiles. We want to raise the profile to increase the pool of students who choose our bilingual stream. We're also looking at certain barriers. Many English-speaking Canadian universities use the Medical College Admission Test (MCAT). U.S. studies show that Spanish speakers do less well. We're looking into whether we should do away with the MCAT for the admission of applicants whose first language is French. We're looking at these issues to enhance participation.

Senator Moncion: I'll take my thinking a step further. I'll take the example of the Northern Ontario School of Medicine, where there were a number of spaces identified specifically for Indigenous candidates. As a result, they started training Indigenous doctors who would end up providing services in Indigenous areas. There was this mandatory criterion, and no one else could take those spots. This gives others a chance. In French-language or bilingual universities, it's easier to find francophone or bilingual doctors. On the other hand, when you get to our English-speaking Canadian universities, which don't have this admission criterion.... This means that we continue to produce doctors who speak only English, whereas if there were spaces reserved even in these universities for students who are French-speaking doctors, there would probably be a change in trend.

Dr. François: We're looking at the issue of creating a quota. Here at the University of Manitoba, our goal is for students to receive additional training in language development. Are there different ways of delivering the clinical curriculum? One of the things we're finding is that if, over a two-year period, there's only one six-week primary care rotation in French, and all other rotations are in English, there may be fewer opportunities to use French.

We're looking at a practicum model that would make family medicine longitudinal throughout the two years of training. Students would be more exposed to primary care and family medicine, which is a priority need for francophone populations, and they would have the advantage of using French every week, rather than on an ad hoc basis. For language acquisition and maintenance, this is a preferable strategy.

l'Université d'Ottawa ou dans des universités francophones au Québec, par exemple, en plus des établissements d'enseignement anglophones. Cela leur ouvre des portes.

Sur la question des admissions, à l'Université du Manitoba, nous sommes actuellement en réflexion par rapport à l'admission des gens qui sont francophones ou francophiles. On veut rehausser le profil pour augmenter le bassin d'étudiants qui choisissent notre volet bilingue. On se penche sur certaines barrières. Plusieurs universités anglophones canadiennes utilisent le Medical College Admission Test (MCAT). Les études américaines nous indiquent que les hispanophones font moins bonne figure. On se penche sur la question de savoir si l'on devrait se débarrasser du test d'admission MCAT pour l'admission des candidats dont le français serait la langue première. On se penche sur ces questions pour rehausser la participation.

La sénatrice Moncion : Je vais aller plus loin dans ma réflexion. Je prends l'exemple de l'École de médecine du Nord de l'Ontario, où il y avait un certain nombre de places identifiées spécifiquement pour des personnes candidates autochtones. Par conséquent, on a commencé à former des médecins autochtones qui allaient se retrouver à offrir des services dans les secteurs autochtones. Il y a eu ce critère obligatoire et personne d'autre ne pouvait prendre ces places. Cela donne la chance aux autres. Dans les universités francophones ou bilingues, c'est plus facile d'aller chercher des médecins francophones ou bilingues. Par contre, quand on arrive dans nos universités canadiennes anglophones, qui n'ont pas ce critère d'admission... Cela fait que l'on continue de produire des médecins qui ne parlent que l'anglais, alors que s'il y avait des places réservées même dans ces universités-là pour des étudiants qui sont des médecins francophones, il y aurait probablement un changement de tendance.

Dr François : On se penche sur la question de la création d'un contingent. Chez nous, à l'Université du Manitoba, notre but est que les étudiants fassent une formation d'appoint quant au développement de la langue. Y a-t-il différentes façons de donner le curriculum clinique? L'un des constats que l'on fait est que si, sur une période de deux ans, il y a seulement un stage de six semaines en soins primaires en français et si tous les autres stages sont en anglais, il y a peut-être moins d'occasions d'utiliser le français.

On se penche sur un modèle de stage qui ferait en sorte que la médecine familiale soit longitudinale pendant les deux ans de formation. Les étudiants seraient plus exposés aux soins primaires et à la médecine familiale, qui est un besoin prioritaire pour les populations francophones, et ils auraient l'avantage d'utiliser le français toutes les semaines, plutôt que de façon ponctuelle. Pour l'acquisition et le maintien de la langue, c'est une stratégie préférable.

We look at admission, but also the type of curriculum so that these students can have experience that will better prepare them to practise their specialty.

The Chair: Thank you to both witnesses for participating in this part of the meeting.

[English]

Ms. Valenzuela, what was the last sentence in your presentation?

Ms. Valenzuela: By investing in these areas, we can ensure that all Canadians, regardless of their language, can better engage in their own health care, gain autonomy and feel the sense of dignity and respect we all deserve. Linguistic rights are human rights.

The Chair: Linguistic rights are human rights.

[Translation]

And with that, we will conclude this part of the meeting. Thank you both for your contribution, which will certainly help us further this study.

We're going to break in order to prepare to welcome our next witnesses.

Colleagues, we now reconvene and welcome Raymond Thériault, Commissioner of Official Languages, to discuss the 2023–2024 Annual Report on official languages, as well as the committee's new order of reference, that is, the content of the elements in Division 24 of Part 4 of Bill C-69, if the Commissioner may speak to that.

Welcome to the committee. You are accompanied by members of your staff. It's always a pleasure to welcome you. The floor is yours, and then we'll open it up for questions.

Raymond Thériault, Commissioner of Official Languages, Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Good evening, honourable members of the committee.

Before I begin, I'd like to acknowledge that the lands on which we are gathered are part of the unceded traditional territory of the Algonquin Anishinaabeg people, an Indigenous people of the Ottawa Valley. I'm pleased to be with you today to present my 2023–2024 Annual Report.

On examine l'admission, mais également le type de curriculum pour que ces étudiants puissent avoir une expérience qui les préparera mieux pour exercer leur spécialité.

Le président : Merci aux deux témoins de leur participation à cette partie de la réunion.

[Traduction]

Madame Valenzuela, quelle était la dernière phrase de votre exposé?

Mme Valenzuela : En investissant dans ces domaines, nous pouvons faire en sorte que tous les Canadiens, quelle que soit leur langue, puissent mieux participer à leurs propres soins de santé, acquérir de l'autonomie et ressentir le sentiment de dignité et de respect que nous méritons tous. Les droits linguistiques sont des droits de la personne.

Le président : Les droits linguistiques sont des droits de la personne.

[Français]

C'est sur cette phrase que nous allons conclure cette partie de la réunion. Merci à vous deux pour votre contribution, qui nous aidera certainement dans le cheminement de cette étude.

Nous allons faire une pause, le temps d'accueillir nos prochains témoins.

Chers collègues, nous reprenons maintenant nos travaux et accueillons Raymond Thériault, commissaire aux langues officielles, pour discuter du rapport annuel sur les langues officielles de 2023-2024, ainsi que du nouvel ordre de renvoi du comité, c'est-à-dire la teneur des éléments de la section 24 de la partie 4 du projet de loi C-69, si le commissaire peut intervenir à ce sujet.

Bienvenue parmi nous. Vous êtes accompagné de membres de votre personnel. C'est toujours un plaisir de vous accueillir. La parole est à vous, et nous passerons par la suite à une période de questions.

Raymond Thériault, commissaire aux langues officielles, Commissariat aux langues officielles : Merci, monsieur le président. Honorables membres du comité, bonjour.

Avant de commencer, je tiens à souligner que les terres sur lesquelles nous sommes réunis font partie du territoire traditionnel non cédé du peuple algonquin anishinabe, un peuple autochtone de la vallée de l'Outaouais. Je suis heureux de me joindre à vous aujourd'hui pour discuter de mon rapport annuel de 2023-2024.

As you know, the modernization of the Official Languages Act in June 2023 marked the beginning of a new chapter not only in the history of official languages, but also in the history of the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages. After many months of work, the foundations for exercising my new powers are solidly in place. We're now ready for action according to the timeline I unveiled when I tabled my annual report.

[English]

Therefore, between July and September 2024, I'll begin offering federal institutions the opportunity to enter into a compliance agreement in order to resolve a complaint. Between December 2024 and February 2025, I will be able to formally issue orders to offending federal institutions to comply with the act.

With regard to administrative monetary penalties, I'll be able to use this power once the government has issued a Governor-in-Council order and adopted regulations governing their terms and conditions. I know that the government is working on these elements right now, and my office and I will be ready when they are.

Furthermore, between June and August 2024, we'll gradually begin offering a mediation service to complainants and federal institutions in order to try to find mutually acceptable solutions to the issues raised in complaints.

[Translation]

By July 2024, we'll also be introducing a new investigation process that will enable us to serve the public as efficiently and effectively as possible.

Finally, by the end of March 2025, summaries of some of my investigations will be posted on our website. Of course, the upcoming changes will require a certain period of adjustment, both for the parties involved and for my team, which is why we plan to start gradually phasing in the use of these new tools with the funding we've been granted in the 2024 Budget.

[English]

It's hard to say at this point whether this amount will be enough, though, because we don't yet have all the details on the new Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act or on my new power to impose administrative monetary penalties. We'll know more once they come into force. That said, let me be clear: my team and I are fully prepared to ensure greater respect for the public's language rights.

Comme vous le savez, la modernisation de la Loi sur les langues officielles, en juin dernier, a marqué le début d'un nouveau chapitre de l'histoire des langues officielles, mais aussi du Commissariat aux langues officielles. Après plusieurs mois de travail, les fondations qui me permettront d'exercer mes nouveaux pouvoirs sont solidement en place. Nous sommes maintenant prêts à passer à l'action, selon le calendrier que j'ai dévoilé lors du dépôt de mon rapport annuel.

[Traduction]

Ainsi, entre juillet et septembre 2024, je commencerai à offrir aux institutions fédérales la possibilité de conclure un accord de conformité pour régler une plainte. Entre décembre 2024 et février 2025, je serai en mesure d'émettre des ordonnances afin d'obliger des institutions fédérales fautives à se conformer à la loi.

Pour ce qui est des sanctions administratives pécuniaires, je pourrai utiliser ce pouvoir lorsque le gouvernement aura émis un décret du gouverneur en conseil et adopté un règlement encadrant leurs modalités. Je sais que le gouvernement travaille sur ces éléments à l'heure actuelle; mon équipe et moi serons prêts lorsqu'ils verront le jour.

Par ailleurs, entre juin et août 2024, nous commencerons à offrir aux plaignants et aux institutions fédérales un service de médiation pour tenter de trouver une solution mutuellement acceptable aux enjeux soulevés dans les plaintes.

[Français]

D'ici à juillet 2024, nous lancerons également un nouveau processus d'enquête qui permettra de servir la population le plus efficacement possible.

Finalement, d'ici la fin de mars 2025, les sommaires de certaines de mes enquêtes seront publiés sur le site Web du commissariat. Bien entendu, les changements à venir nécessiteront une certaine période d'adaptation, tant pour les parties impliquées que pour mon équipe. C'est pourquoi nous commencerons à utiliser ces nouveaux outils de manière graduelle, avec le financement supplémentaire qui nous a été accordé dans le budget de 2024.

[Traduction]

Il est difficile d'affirmer à l'heure actuelle si ce financement suffira, car nous n'avons pas encore tous les détails sur la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale et mon nouveau pouvoir d'imposer des sanctions administratives pécuniaires. Nous en saurons davantage lorsqu'ils entreront en vigueur. Cela dit, je veux être clair : mon équipe et moi-même sommes pleinement mobilisés pour mieux faire respecter les droits linguistiques de la population.

As you probably noticed in my annual report, the 847 admissible complaints filed with my office in 2023-24 are a bit of a contrast to the very high volumes of complaints we've become accustomed to in recent years. Is this a trend that will continue over time? Unfortunately, I don't have a crystal ball to help me answer these questions with any certainty. Only time will tell.

[Translation]

One thing is certain, though: This decrease doesn't mean that we need to take our foot off the gas. Au contraire! We need to keep up the momentum and build on the progress we've made to effect concrete, lasting changes in order to secure the future of both of our official languages across the country. I'm counting on all federal institutions to step up their efforts to meet their language obligations, including the new ones in the modernized act.

Despite the fact that regulations have yet to be made, federal institutions still have new obligations that they're required to meet right now, including those under Part VII of the act, which deals with advancing the equality of status and use of English and French.

[English]

Therefore, to help ensure compliance with Part VII, I've recently published a road map that is designed to be a practical tool to help federal institutions understand and meet their obligations and to help members of the public better understand their language rights. In my annual report, I recommend that by May 31, 2025, all deputy ministers and deputy heads in the federal public service incorporate into their strategic plan a plan for ensuring full implementation of Part VII of the act that draws from this road map which I put forward to support federal institutions. Although compliance with Part VII of the act does not depend on the development of regulations, they will set clearer parameters for federal institutions to fully and effectively meet their obligations.

[Translation]

Fortunately, things are moving forward. The federal government is currently developing instruments to support the implementation of the modernized act, including the Part VII regulations. I'm monitoring this file very closely and have recently released a position paper outlining the main principles that I believe should guide the development of the regulations.

Comme vous l'avez probablement remarqué dans mon rapport annuel, les 847 plaintes recevables déposées auprès de mon bureau en 2023-2024 contrastent quelque peu avec les volumes très élevés de plaintes auxquels nous nous sommes habitués ces dernières années. Cette tendance va-t-elle se maintenir dans le temps? Malheureusement, je n'ai pas de boule de cristal qui me permette de répondre avec certitude à ces questions. Seul l'avenir nous le dira.

[Français]

Chose certaine, cette diminution ne signifie pas qu'il faut lever le pied de l'accélérateur. Au contraire, nous devons poursuivre sur cette lancée et nous appuyer sur les progrès réalisés jusqu'à présent afin de produire des changements concrets et durables et d'assurer l'avenir de nos deux langues officielles d'un bout à l'autre du pays. Je compte ainsi sur l'ensemble des institutions fédérales, qui devront redoubler d'ardeur afin de respecter leurs obligations linguistiques, y compris celles qui ont été ajoutées dans la loi modernisée.

Même dans l'attente de règlements, les institutions fédérales ont de nouvelles obligations auxquelles elles doivent se conformer dès maintenant. Je songe notamment aux obligations en vertu de la partie VII de la loi, qui porte sur la progression vers l'égalité de statut et d'usage du français et de l'anglais.

[Traduction]

C'est pourquoi, afin d'assurer le respect de la partie VII, j'ai récemment publié une feuille de route conçue comme un outil pratique qui se veut un outil pratique pour aider les institutions fédérales à comprendre et remplir leurs obligations, mais aussi pour aider les membres du public à mieux comprendre leurs droits linguistiques. Dans mon rapport annuel, je recommande à l'ensemble des sous-ministres et administrateurs généraux de la fonction publique fédérale d'incorporer à même leur plan stratégique, d'ici le 31 mai 2025, un plan pour atteindre la pleine mise en œuvre de la partie VII de la loi, qui s'appuie sur la feuille de route que j'ai mise de l'avant pour soutenir les institutions fédérales. Bien que le respect de la partie VII de la loi ne dépende pas de l'élaboration de règlements, ceux-ci définiront des paramètres plus clairs permettant aux institutions fédérales de respecter pleinement et efficacement leurs obligations.

[Français]

Heureusement, les choses progressent. Le gouvernement fédéral travaille actuellement à développer les instruments pour appuyer la mise en œuvre de la loi modernisée, y compris le règlement portant sur la partie VII. Je suis ce dossier de très près et j'ai d'ailleurs récemment publié un document de positionnement décrivant les grands principes qui devraient, selon moi, guider l'élaboration du règlement.

Among the changes introduced in the modernized act is the requirement to review the act every 10 years to ensure that it remains in step with Canadian society as it evolves.

However, in order for this to happen, indicators need to be developed as quickly as possible to monitor the application of the act, track any changes in the issues at stake and propose solutions in a timely fashion.

[English]

In my annual report, I therefore recommend that, by June 2026, the Minister of Canadian Heritage, with the support of the President of the Treasury Board, develop and publish indicators for reviewing the provisions and operation of the act in preparation for the 10-year review in 2033.

As you'll have noticed, this year I'm reporting on a period of change and transition in the world of official languages. Although we still have a lot of work to do to ensure better respect for the language rights of the public and of federal public servants, I think that it's achievable. The progress we've made since the act was passed nearly 55 years ago is testament to this. Every success counts.

[Translation]

Because your committee begins its pre-study today, I'd like to turn to a few aspects of Bill C-69. As you know, this bill proposes certain changes to the Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act, which is part of An Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages.

One of the main changes proposed in the bill is intended to allow me to exercise my investigative powers with respect to complaints received by current employees of federally regulated enterprises, as well as former and future employees.

In my opinion, this change will be beneficial because it will enable more employees of private companies under federal jurisdiction to work in French.

[English]

In studying these new provisions, I also noticed that the wording of the section dealing with the sending of my investigation reports would have the effect of preventing me from sending my investigation reports to complainants, which seems possibly unintentional. This section could be amended so that complainants, as well as executives from the organizations under investigation, receive my investigation reports.

Parmi les changements qu'apporte la nouvelle mouture de la loi, on retrouve également l'obligation d'examiner la loi tous les 10 ans, ce qui lui permettra de rester en harmonie avec l'évolution de la société canadienne.

Toutefois, pour ce faire, des indicateurs doivent être définis le plus rapidement possible afin d'observer l'application de la loi, de suivre l'évolution des enjeux et de proposer des changements en temps opportun.

[Traduction]

Dans mon rapport annuel, je recommande à la ministre du Patrimoine canadien de développer et de rendre public d'ici juin 2026, en consultation avec la présidente du Conseil du Trésor, des indicateurs permettant de procéder à l'examen des dispositions et de l'application de la loi en prévision de la revue décennale de 2033.

Comme vous l'aurez constaté, je fais état cette année d'une période de changement et de transition dans le monde des langues officielles. Même s'il nous reste du pain sur la planche pour nous assurer de mieux faire respecter les droits linguistiques du public et des fonctionnaires fédéraux, je demeure convaincu que nous pouvons y parvenir. Tout le chemin parcouru depuis l'adoption de la loi, il y a près de 55 ans, en témoigne. Chaque réussite compte.

[Français]

Puisque votre comité entame son étude préliminaire aujourd'hui, j'aimerais aborder quelques aspects du projet de loi C-69. Comme vous le savez, ce projet de loi propose certains changements à la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, qui fait partie de la Loi visant l'égalité réelle entre les langues officielles du Canada.

Un des principaux changements proposés vise à me permettre d'exercer mes pouvoirs d'enquête, tant pour les plaintes reçues des employés actuels des entreprises de compétence fédérale que de la part d'anciens et de futurs employés.

Selon moi, ce changement sera bénéfique, parce qu'il permettra à plus d'employés d'entreprises privées de compétence fédérale de travailler en français.

[Traduction]

En étudiant ces nouvelles dispositions, j'ai remarqué que la formulation de l'article qui porte sur l'envoi de mes rapports d'enquête aurait pour effet de m'empêcher d'envoyer mes rapports d'enquête aux plaignants, ce qui semble non intentionnel. Cet article pourrait être modifié, afin que les plaignants reçoivent mes rapports d'enquête au même titre que les dirigeants des entreprises visées par l'enquête.

Since the modernization of the act, we've been working to put in place a solid foundation to ensure a better future for our official languages. The modernized act is stronger and better adapted to today's society. It represents a major step forward in protecting the public's language rights and the vitality of our official language minority communities.

We need to seize this opportunity to ensure that the act is implemented fully, and we need to make concrete, lasting changes to improve the state of our official languages, both in the federal public service and in Canadian society as a whole.

[Translation]

By making sure that the act is reviewed thoroughly, implemented fully and supported by strong leadership from senior officials, we will help to build a future where members of the public have every opportunity to succeed in both official languages, and where federal public servants can finally feel free to work in the official language of their choice where the act applies.

Thank you for your attention. I'm now ready to answer your questions, which you're welcome to ask in the official language of your choice.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Commissioner, for this rather positive and optimistic assessment of the future of the implementation of the Official Languages Act. Before turning the floor over to my colleagues, I'd like you to tell us more about the Part VII regulations. In fact, what we're hearing from the communities is that they're concerned about the delays in making regulations with regard to Part VII and also about the resources you have available.

Beyond what's positive and great, what are your concerns at this point with regard to Part VII, which is so important for official language minority communities? At the same time, I'd like you to tell us what you know about the Centre for Strengthening of Part VII promised by the government. What is the role of this centre and what would be its responsibility? What can you tell us about your thoughts on this subject?

Mr. Thériault: You're absolutely right that Part VII is a part of the act that aims to support the development and vitality of official language minority communities. The language used in Part VII of the new act is certainly much more rigorous and robust than that of the old act.

We specify what the positive measures are, we specify what we must do with impact studies and we specify that communities must be consulted. Part VII is already in force; what's missing

Depuis la modernisation de la loi, nous travaillons à mettre en place des bases solides pour assurer un meilleur avenir pour nos langues officielles. La loi modernisée, plus robuste et mieux adaptée à la société d'aujourd'hui, représente une avancée importante pour la protection des droits linguistiques de la population et la vitalité de nos communautés de langue officielle en situation minoritaire.

Nous devons saisir cette occasion pour la mettre en œuvre pleinement, et apporter des changements concrets et durables pour améliorer l'état de nos langues officielles, tant dans la fonction publique fédérale que dans l'ensemble de la société canadienne.

[Français]

C'est avec une loi revue de façon rigoureuse, pleinement mise en œuvre et soutenue par un leadership fort de la part des hauts dirigeants que nous contribuerons à bâtir un avenir où la population aura toutes les chances de s'épanouir dans les deux langues officielles, et où les fonctionnaires fédéraux pourront enfin travailler librement dans la langue officielle de leur choix, là où la loi le permet.

Je vous remercie de votre attention. Je suis maintenant prêt à répondre à vos questions, que je vous invite à poser dans la langue officielle de votre choix.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur le commissaire, pour ce bilan que vous faites de façon assez positive et optimiste par rapport à l'avenir de la mise en œuvre de la Loi sur les langues officielles. Avant de donner la parole à mes collègues, j'aimerais que vous nous parliez davantage de la prise de règlement par rapport à la partie VII. En fait, ce que l'on entend de la part des communautés, c'est qu'elles sont inquiètes des délais dans la prise de règlement en ce qui a trait à la partie VII et aussi des ressources dont vous disposez.

Au-delà de ce qui est positif et formidable, quelles sont vos préoccupations à ce stade-ci par rapport à la partie VII, qui est si importante pour les communautés de langue officielle en situation minoritaire? Du même coup, je vous demanderais de nous dire ce que vous savez à propos du Centre de renforcement de la partie VII promis par le gouvernement. Quel est le rôle de ce centre et quelle serait sa responsabilité? Que pouvez-vous nous dire sur vos réflexions à ce sujet?

M. Thériault : Vous avez tout à fait raison de dire que la partie VII est une partie de la loi qui vise à appuyer le développement et l'épanouissement des communautés de langue officielle en situation minoritaire. Le langage utilisé dans la partie VII de la nouvelle loi est certainement beaucoup plus rigoureux et plus robuste que celui de l'ancienne loi.

On précise quelles sont les mesures positives, on précise ce qu'on doit faire des études d'impact et on précise qu'il faut consulter les communautés. La partie VII est déjà en vigueur; ce

are the regulations, which, in my opinion, need to clarify a number of things. We need to clearly identify the steps involved in implementing positive measures. We need to focus on a consultation mechanism. There's a lot of talk about "by and for". All federal institutions have obligations with regard to Part VII.

When we were working on our position paper for Part VII, it wasn't necessarily well understood by all federal institutions. This affects Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC), for example, but the issue affects everyone, in fact, because almost all federal institutions work with communities. There was a lack of understanding and awareness. If that lack of understanding is still there, we can't expect federal institutions to actively implement this law.

The government is committed to developing the regulations as quickly as possible. You'll recall that in June of last year, we were talking about doing it in three years; now we're talking about 18 months. Consultations are under way.

As I said earlier, we developed a position paper and a road map for federal institutions. The reason we did it is because we don't want to wait. If you want some good ideas on how we see the implementation of Part VII, you can have a look at our road map, which provides some good information in relation to this issue, in addition to the position paper.

I can understand the communities' concerns. We could have a regulation that is perhaps too broad and not prescriptive enough. Part VII identifies specific institutions. We talk about IRCC and the education continuum. We've even moved into the formal and informal world. In concrete terms, are there any resources to support this continuum in education?

The other important element of Part VII is the protection and promotion of French. Are there any programs in place to ensure the protection and promotion of French? The protection role of the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages has changed with the new act. The law now stipulates that we must promote and ensure compliance. In any case, the office has never had the resources to promote language rights across the country.

So there is work being done, and with some urgency. As for the Centre for Strengthening of Part VII, I think it received funding in the last budget, but it's still pretty embryonic in terms of projects. Clearly, governance is needed for the implementation of Part VII, and I believe this centre could play an important role.

qui manque, c'est le règlement qui, à mon avis, doit clarifier plusieurs choses. On doit identifier clairement les étapes de la mise en œuvre des mesures positives. On doit s'attarder sur un mécanisme de consultation. On parle beaucoup du « par et pour ». Toutes les institutions fédérales ont des obligations en ce qui a trait à la partie VII.

Lorsqu'on travaillait sur notre document de positionnement par rapport à la partie VII, ce n'était pas nécessairement bien compris par l'ensemble des institutions fédérales. Cela touche Immigration, Réfugiés et Citoyenneté Canada (IRCC), par exemple, mais la question touche tout le monde, en fait, car presque toutes les institutions fédérales travaillent avec les communautés. Il y avait un manque de compréhension et de sensibilisation. Si ce manque de compréhension est toujours présent, on ne doit pas s'attendre à ce que les institutions fédérales fassent activement la mise en œuvre de cette loi.

Le gouvernement s'est engagé à développer le règlement le plus rapidement possible. Vous vous rappellerez qu'en juin de l'année dernière, on parlait de le faire en trois ans; maintenant, on parle de 18 mois. Les consultations sont en cours.

Comme je l'ai dit plus tôt, nous avons développé un document de positionnement et une feuille de route pour les institutions fédérales. La raison pour laquelle on l'a fait, c'est parce qu'on ne veut pas attendre. Si vous voulez de bonnes idées sur la façon dont nous voyons la mise en œuvre de la partie VII, vous pouvez consulter notre feuille de route, qui fournit de bonnes informations par rapport à cette question, en plus du document de positionnement.

Je peux comprendre les inquiétudes des communautés. On pourrait avoir un règlement peut-être trop large et pas assez prescriptif. Dans la partie VII, on identifie des institutions en particulier. On parle d'IRCC et du continuum en éducation. On est même rendu dans le monde formel et informel. Concrètement, est-ce qu'il existe des ressources pour appuyer ce continuum en éducation?

L'autre élément important de la partie VII, c'est la protection et la promotion du français. Est-ce qu'il y a des programmes en place pour assurer la protection et la promotion du français? Le rôle de protection du Commissariat aux langues officielles a changé avec la nouvelle loi. Il est maintenant stipulé dans la loi qu'on doit faire de la promotion et de la conformité. De toute façon, le commissariat n'a jamais eu les ressources nécessaires pour faire la promotion des droits linguistiques à l'échelle du pays.

Il y a donc un travail qui se fait, et ce, dans une certaine urgence. Pour ce qui est du Centre de renforcement de la partie VII, je pense qu'il a reçu un financement lors du dernier budget, mais il demeure assez embryonnaire en matière de projets. Il est clair qu'une gouvernance est nécessaire pour la mise en œuvre de la partie VII, et je crois que ce centre pourrait jouer un rôle important.

It's important to remember that Canadian Heritage has decades of experience working with and for communities. So I think it's a centre that's well situated and all of that remains to be defined.

When it comes to the resources of the Commissioner's office, let's say that for the implementation of the new powers, I think we're in a position to do it, but when we're going to add others later on, that's a question we'll have to ask ourselves. Still.... We're pleased to see that the government is supporting the prioritization of official languages with funding.

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

Senator Moncion: My question relates to your recommendations. I believe they are in your annual report. You refer to recommendation number 2. It recommends that all deputy ministers and deputy heads incorporate into their strategic plans, by May 31, 2025, a plan for implementing Part VII of the act, in other words, about a year before the future regulatory framework comes into effect. That's the first comment. In the second, you talk about an implementation plan for Part VII. I think you're making suggestions to the various departments in your road map to get them to comply. How seriously is this taken by the various departments?

Mr. Th  berge: By way of response, last week I met with all the deputy ministers in the federal apparatus to talk to them about Part VII, its implementation and the importance of properly articulating their obligations in relation to it. It's often said that leadership starts at the top, and it's extremely important that leadership be committed to Part VII. It's hard to judge the impact, but one thing is clear: Now everyone and every deputy minister is aware of Part VII and their obligations. What I've heard is that the issue is taken seriously. We're often asked to give information sessions on compliance — and we do.

In addition, the federal public service has embarked on a process of renewing a code of values and ethics, on which a lot of work has been done to ensure that official languages are part of it. Official languages are now at the heart of this code of values and ethics. When we talk about the strategic plan, we have to integrate official languages throughout the organization, not just in one unit — often it's human resources.

Several years ago, studies were carried out on what is known as the "official language maturity model". We found that the official languages were not integrated into all of the institution's functions. The message we're sending is that official languages are not something you do on the corner of a desk. They're part of the organization. So we're starting to raise awareness and

Il faut se rappeler que Patrimoine canadien a des d  cennies d'exp  rience    travailler avec et aupr  s des communaut  s. Je pense donc que c'est un centre qui est bien situ   et que tout cela reste    d  finir.

Pour ce qui est des ressources du commissariat, disons que pour la mise en   uvre des nouveaux pouvoirs, je pense qu'on est en mesure de le faire, mais lorsqu'on va en ajouter d'autres plus tard, c'est une question que l'on devra se poser. On a quand m  me... Nous sommes heureux de constater que le gouvernement appuie la priorisation des langues officielles avec un financement.

Le pr  sident : Merci, monsieur le commissaire.

La s  natrice Moncion : Ma question touche les recommandations que vous pr  sentez. Je crois qu'elles sont pr  sent  es dans votre rapport annuel. Vous parlez de la recommandation n   2. Elle recommande    l'ensemble des sous-ministres et administrateurs g  n  raux d'incorporer    m  me leur plan strat  gique, d'ici le 31 mai 2025, un plan de mise en   uvre de la partie VII de la loi, c'est-  -dire environ un an avant l'entr  e en vigueur du futur cadre r  glementaire en la mati  re. C'est le premier commentaire. Dans le deuxi  me, vous parlez d'un plan de mise en   uvre de la partie VII. Je pense que vous faites des suggestions aux diff  rents minist  res dans votre feuille de route afin d'amener les diff  rents minist  res    se conformer.    quel point est-ce pris au s  rieux par les diff  rents minist  res?

M. Th  berge : En guise de r  ponse, la semaine derni  re, j'ai rencontr   l'ensemble des sous-ministres de l'appareil f  d  ral pour leur parler de la partie VII, de sa mise en   uvre et de l'importance de bien articuler leurs obligations par rapport    celle-ci. On dit souvent que le leadership commence en haut, et il est extr  mement important que le leadership soit engag   par rapport    la partie VII. Il est difficile de juger de l'impact, mais une chose est claire : maintenant, tout le monde et tous les sous-ministres sont conscients de la partie VII et de leurs obligations. Ce que j'ai entendu, c'est qu'on prend la question au s  rieux. On nous demande souvent de donner des sessions d'information sur la conformit   — et on le fait.

De plus, la fonction publique f  d  rale s'est engag  e dans un processus de renouvellement d'un code de valeurs et d'  thique sur lequel on a beaucoup travaill   pour s'assurer que les langues officielles en font partie. Les langues officielles sont maintenant au c  ur de ce code de valeurs et d'  thique. Lorsqu'on parle du plan strat  gique, on doit int  grer les langues officielles partout dans l'organisation, pas seulement dans une unit   — souvent, ce sont les ressources humaines.

Il y a plusieurs ann  es, on a fait des   tudes sur ce qu'on appelle le « mod  le de maturit   des langues officielles ». On constatait que les langues officielles n'  taient pas int  gr  es dans toutes les fonctions de l'institution. Le message que l'on envoie, c'est que les langues officielles ne sont pas quelque chose qu'on fait sur le coin d'un bureau. Cela fait partie de l'organisation. On

educate at the highest possible level. We're talking about committed, enlightened leadership.

I'll be quite honest: If we don't have that commitment from leadership, I'm not convinced there will be good implementation. It will be important to get the message out often, to keep an eye on implementation, and to push the government to adopt regulations as soon as possible. We need to be very specific in identifying our expectations.

Senator Moncion: Thank you for your reply. You reassure me on certain aspects in the sense that you talk about a coaching and training process. You talk about performance indicators that you'll be able to see at some point. I also like to hear that it has to become automatic to think about bilingualism and to think about francophones and anglophones in all components.

I'll give you an example. At one point, the Infrastructure Bank of Canada was created and they posted positions. They didn't indicate that bilingual staff were needed to do the job. It wasn't something that was thought of; it happened afterwards.

I think measuring performance indicators and tracking will be important. To what extent do you think departments will give you performance indicators, and how will you be able to track this famous progress?

Mr. Thériault: We're at the beginning of the exercise, so I'm optimistic. I may change my mind next week, but I'm optimistic. It's important to have an accountability framework. Treasury Board has an important role to play in developing an accountability framework for all federal institutions.

It's important to mention that, often, the will exists, but the know-how isn't necessarily always there — the how. When I said earlier that we need to integrate this into all functions of the organization, that's the only way it's going to become part of the organization's culture.

In the official languages maturity model we used in the past, there are some very good indicators we can use. Several federal institutions have gone through the exercise. In fact, we've shared the tool with the Treasury Board Secretariat, which is interested in it. If we adopt a similar tool, I think it would be really beneficial for monitoring implementation.

In our role at the Office of the Commissioner, we have our perspective on how things should work, which is not necessarily the same as some federal institutions. On the other hand, I'd say we have expertise that we can share with federal institutions. We've been working in this field for over 50 years. We've

commence donc à sensibiliser et à éduquer au plus haut niveau possible. On parle d'un leadership engagé et éclairé.

Je vais être tout à fait honnête : si on n'a pas cet engagement de la part du leadership, je ne suis pas convaincu qu'il y aura une bonne mise en œuvre. Il sera important de passer le message souvent, de faire une vigie sur la mise en œuvre et de pousser le gouvernement à adopter un règlement le plus tôt possible. Nous devons être très précis pour ce qui est d'identifier nos attentes.

La sénatrice Moncion : Merci pour votre réponse. Vous me rassurez sur certains aspects dans le sens où vous parlez d'un processus d'accompagnement et de formation. Vous parlez des indicateurs de rendement que vous pourrez voir à un moment donné. J'aime aussi entendre que cela doit devenir automatique de penser au bilinguisme et de penser aux francophones et aux anglophones dans toutes les composantes.

Je vais vous donner un exemple. À un moment donné, la Banque de l'infrastructure du Canada a été créée et ils ont affiché des postes. Ils n'indiquaient pas qu'il fallait du personnel bilingue pour faire le travail. Cela n'a pas été quelque chose qui a été pensé; cela s'est produit après.

Je pense que la mesure des indicateurs de rendement et le suivi seront importants. Jusqu'à quel point croyez-vous que les ministères vont vous donner des indicateurs de rendement, et comment serez-vous en mesure de suivre ces fameux progrès?

M. Thériault : On est au début de l'exercice, donc je suis optimiste. Il se peut que je change d'idée la semaine prochaine, mais je suis optimiste. C'est important d'avoir un cadre de reddition de comptes. Le Conseil du Trésor a un rôle important à jouer pour développer un cadre de reddition de comptes pour l'ensemble des institutions fédérales.

C'est important de mentionner que, souvent, la volonté existe, mais le savoir-faire n'est pas nécessairement toujours là — le comment. Quand je disais plus tôt qu'il fallait intégrer cela dans toutes les fonctions de l'organisation, c'est la seule façon que cela va faire partie de la culture de l'organisation.

Dans le modèle de maturité des langues officielles qu'on utilisait par le passé, il y a de très bons indicateurs qu'on peut utiliser. Plusieurs institutions fédérales sont passées par l'exercice. De fait, on a partagé l'outil avec le Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor, qui s'y intéresse. Si on adopte un outil semblable, je pense que ce serait vraiment bénéfique pour la surveillance de la mise en œuvre.

Dans notre rôle au commissariat, on a notre perspective par rapport aux façons dont les choses devraient fonctionner, ce qui n'est pas nécessairement la même chose que certaines institutions fédérales. Par contre, je dirais qu'on a une expertise que l'on peut partager avec les institutions fédérales. Cela fait

received over 70,000 complaints. We understand how it all works.

I think we shouldn't overlook the fact that we have a new linguistic regime. When you have a new language regime, it's time to see how you can make it work. Under the old system, we had the same number of complaints, but the behaviour of federal institutions didn't change. Now, with the tools we have, maybe we can succeed.

That said, we're at the beginning of the process and we have to try to have a positive approach.

Senator Moncion: I am the sponsor of Bill C-59 and I have met with all the staff at the Department of Finance. I can tell you that all the public servants made their presentations in French, from the first to the last. I was blown away and had them all practising their French that day. I thought it was fantastic. I thought to myself that very often, we don't know that the staff are bilingual. They often only address us in one language, the one they're most comfortable in, but I'll tell you there were about 40 of them that all spoke to me in French.

Mr. Théberge: What you're saying has a lot to do with what I call language insecurity. A lot of people have a second language that they don't want to use for all sorts of reasons, but they're capable of doing so. We need to create conditions where people aren't afraid to use their second language and even, in some cases, their mother tongue. It's important to apply pressure.

The Chair: Thank you very much. Just to counterbalance things a bit, I sit on another committee where we're currently hosting senior federal government officials who don't feel it's appropriate to have someone on their team who can address us in French. They accept questions in French, but answer only in English. You can see from this that there's still work to be done, and that your optimism will be transformed into great energy. It's going to transform our federal institutions and the people who work in them.

Senator Audette: I too still have hope.

[Innu-Aimun spoken] and thank you so much for being with us. This is my first official meeting as a member of this important committee.

On the Indigenous languages side, we talk about the Indigenous Languages Commissioner and organizations that are created by the federal government, but they are only English-speaking. My first language is French, my second language is Innu-Aimun, and my third is English.

quand même plus de 50 ans qu'on travaille dans le domaine. On a reçu au-delà de 70 000 plaintes. On comprend un peu comment tout cela fonctionne.

Je pense qu'il ne faut pas négliger le fait qu'on a un nouveau régime linguistique. Quand on a un nouveau régime linguistique, c'est le moment de voir comment on peut le faire vivre. Dans l'ancien régime, on avait le même nombre de plaintes, mais les comportements des institutions fédérales ne changeaient pas. Maintenant, avec les outils qu'on a, peut-être qu'on peut réussir.

Cela dit, on est au début du processus et il faut essayer d'avoir une approche positive.

La sénatrice Moncion : Je suis marraine du projet de loi C-59 et j'ai rencontré tout le personnel du ministère des Finances. Je vous dirais que tous les fonctionnaires ont fait leurs présentations en français, du premier au dernier. J'ai été époustouflée et je leur ai tous fait pratiquer leur français cette journée-là. J'ai trouvé cela fantastique. Je me suis dit que très souvent, on ne sait pas que le personnel est bilingue. Ils s'adressent souvent à nous seulement dans une langue, celle dans laquelle ils sont le plus à l'aise, mais je vous dirais qu'ils étaient une quarantaine qu'ils m'ont tous parlé en français.

M. Théberge : Ce que vous dites est beaucoup lié à ce que j'appelle l'insécurité linguistique. Beaucoup de gens ont une deuxième langue qu'ils ne veulent pas utiliser pour toutes sortes de raisons, mais ils sont en mesure de le faire. On doit créer des conditions où les gens ne craignent pas d'utiliser leur langue seconde et même, dans certains cas, leur langue maternelle. C'est important de faire des pressions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup. Juste pour contrebalancer un peu les choses, je siège à un autre comité où l'on reçoit actuellement de hauts fonctionnaires du gouvernement fédéral qui ne jugent pas approprié d'avoir quelqu'un dans leur équipe qui peut nous adresser la parole en français. Ils acceptent les questions en français, mais ils répondent uniquement en anglais. Vous jugerez par cela qu'il y a encore du travail à faire et que votre optimisme va se transformer en grande énergie. Cela va faire en sorte de transformer nos institutions fédérales et les gens qui y travaillent.

La sénatrice Audette : Moi aussi, j'ai toujours espoir.

[mots prononcés en innu-aimun] et merci beaucoup d'être parmi nous. C'est ma première réunion officielle comme membre de ce comité important.

Du côté des langues autochtones, on parle de commissaire aux langues autochtones et d'organisations qui sont créées par le gouvernement fédéral, mais elles sont seulement anglophones. Ma première langue est le français, ma deuxième langue est l'innu-aimun et ma troisième est l'anglais.

As part of this new regime or accountability, how could you remind the federal government that there are First Peoples who did not choose French, even if they had to? Yet we can't even be served in French by these federal institutions designed for Indigenous peoples.

Mr. Thériberge: That's an excellent question. The number of Indigenous people who speak French is underestimated, even within the federal government. In my opinion, there's a belief that we all speak English. So there's work to be done.

I've had conversations with Commissioner Ignace about the many challenges he faces in promoting, valuing and revitalizing Indigenous languages. The important message to convey and get across is the fact that a large number of Indigenous people speak French.

We did a study on diversity. We always say that it's difficult to find bilingual candidates to fill certain positions, because they don't reflect diversity. The Francophonie has become very diverse. Over 200,000 Indigenous people speak French in Canada. The phenomenon is regionalized, but where I come from in Manitoba, many members of the Métis nation speak Michif. Yet there's a perception that everyone speaks English.

The important message is that there are French-speaking people and communities who deserve to be served in the official language of their choice, even if they speak an Indigenous language.

Senator Audette: So, people can go to you to file a complaint, or you can apply pressure?

Mr. Thériberge: I prefer to apply pressure.

Senator Audette: Thank you.

Senator Mégie: Thank you for being with us, Commissioner, along with your guests. I wanted to talk about complaints, so this is good timing.

Regarding refusal to investigate, the document says that the Commissioner may refuse or cease to investigate any complaint if, in their opinion, the complaint was not made within a reasonable time.

What do you consider a reasonable time? Is it the deadline in Bill C-13 or some other deadline? It was one year.

Dans le cadre de ce nouveau régime ou de la reddition de comptes, comment pourriez-vous rappeler au gouvernement fédéral qu'il y a des Premiers Peuples qui n'ont pas choisi le français, même s'il en est ainsi? Or, on ne peut même pas être servi en français par ces institutions fédérales destinées aux peuples autochtones.

M. Thériberge : C'est une excellente question. On sous-estime, même au sein de l'appareil fédéral, le nombre de personnes autochtones qui parlent le français. À mon avis, il existe une croyance selon laquelle nous parlons tous anglais. Il y a donc du travail à faire.

J'ai eu des conversations avec le commissaire Ignace au sujet des nombreux défis auquel il fait face sur les plans de la promotion, de la valorisation et de la revitalisation des langues autochtones. Le message important à transmettre et à faire comprendre, c'est le fait qu'un grand nombre d'Autochtones parlent le français.

Nous avons fait une étude sur la diversité. On dit toujours qu'il est difficile de trouver des candidats bilingues pour occuper certains postes, car ils ne reflètent pas la diversité. La francophonie est devenue très diversifiée. Plus de 200 000 Autochtones parlent le français au Canada. Le phénomène est régionalisé, mais dans le coin d'où je viens, au Manitoba, plusieurs membres de la nation métisse parlent le michif. Il y a pourtant une perception selon laquelle tout le monde parle anglais.

Le message important est qu'il existe des gens et des communautés qui parlent le français et qui méritent d'être servis dans la langue officielle de leur choix, même s'ils parlent une langue autochtone.

La sénatrice Audette : On peut donc venir vous voir pour porter plainte ou vous pouvez faire des pressions?

M. Thériberge : Je préfère faire des pressions.

La sénatrice Audette : Merci.

La sénatrice Mégie : Merci d'être parmi nous, monsieur le commissaire, ainsi qu'à vos invités. J'en venais aux plaintes; cela tombe bien.

En ce qui concerne le refus d'instruire, on dit dans le document que le commissaire peut, à son appréciation, refuser ou cesser d'instruire une plainte dans l'un ou l'autre des cas suivants : la plainte n'a pas été déposée dans un délai raisonnable...

Pour vous, quel est le délai raisonnable? Est-ce le délai prescrit dans le projet de loi C-13 ou un autre délai? C'était un an.

Mr. Théberge: It's a deadline we chose for very practical reasons. First of all, once a year has passed, in many cases, we can't get the information. It's gone. We have two deadlines: one year and six months. The six-month deadline is for parts IV and V; the one-year deadline is for part VII.

As I said earlier, if we want to be able to conduct serious investigations, we need information and access to information. For example, when we're dealing with the Canada Border Services Agency, there are lots of records and interactions with "clients", but the information is kept for only a few weeks, and then it disappears. It's important to gather information. Based on our experience, most people submit complaints within a reasonable time. It's rare for a complaint to be submitted two years after the fact.

Senator Mégie: Thank you. I have another question about protecting official language rights, specifically the GBA+ analysis that was done on that. It's about a sentence that strikes me as ambiguous. I would like to hear what you think. I won't read the whole long paragraph, just the part that intrigues me. The study says that official language minority communities tend to include a disproportionate — that word bothers me — a larger number of newcomers and Black and racialized people.

How do you interpret that? Where it says "disproportionate", does that mean people who don't belong there but who were included?

Mr. Théberge: Which document are you talking about?

Senator Mégie: It's from Statistics Canada, and it's about the GBA+ analysis that was sent to us.

The Chair: On the budget?

Senator Mégie: Yes.

The Chair: In the budget bill.

Mr. Théberge: I haven't seen that study.

Senator Mégie: It's a Statistics Canada study.

The Chair: Yes.

Senator Mégie: Can I send it to you?

Mr. Théberge: Of course. Which part is it?

Senator Mégie: It's the part about protecting official language rights, especially the impact on quality of life.

M. Théberge : C'est un délai que nous avons imposé pour des raisons très pratiques. Premièrement, après un an, très souvent on ne peut pas aller chercher l'information, car elle a disparu. Nous avons prévu deux délais : un de six mois et l'autre d'un an. Le délai de six mois est pour les parties IV et V; le délai d'un an concerne la partie VII.

Comme je l'ai dit plus tôt, si on veut réellement être en mesure d'enquêter, nous avons besoin d'information et d'accès à l'information. Par exemple, lorsqu'on fait affaire avec l'Agence des services frontaliers du Canada, il y a beaucoup d'enregistrements et d'interactions avec les « clients », mais l'information n'est pas conservée plus qu'un certain nombre de semaines; par la suite, elle disparaît. Il est donc important d'aller chercher l'information. Notre expérience nous a montré que la plupart des gens déposaient une plainte dans un délai raisonnable. Il est très rare que la plainte soit déposée deux ans plus tard.

La sénatrice Mégie : Merci. J'ai une autre question sur la protection des droits en matière de langues officielles, plus particulièrement sur l'étude ACS + qui a été faite là-dessus. C'est au sujet d'une phrase qui me semble ambiguë. J'aurais aimé savoir ce que vous en pensez. Je ne vous lirai pas le gros paragraphe, mais j'ai pris la partie qui m'intrigue. L'étude dit que les communautés de langue officielle en situation minoritaire ont tendance à inclure de façon disproportionnée — et ce mot me dérange — un plus grand nombre de personnes nouvellement arrivées et de personnes noires et racisées.

Comment l'interprétez-vous? Quand on dit « de façon disproportionnée », est-ce qu'on parle de gens qui n'ont pas d'affaire là et que l'on a inclus?

M. Théberge : À quel document faites-vous référence?

La sénatrice Mégie : La source est Statistique Canada, et on parle de l'étude ACS + qui nous a été envoyée.

Le président : Sur le budget?

La sénatrice Mégie : Oui.

Le président : Dans le projet de loi du budget.

M. Théberge : Je n'ai jamais vu cette étude.

La sénatrice Mégie : C'est une étude de Statistique Canada.

Le président : Oui.

La sénatrice Mégie : Est-ce que je peux vous la transmettre?

M. Théberge : Oui, certainement. C'est quelle partie?

La sénatrice Mégie : C'est la partie sur la protection des droits en matière de langues officielles, particulièrement les répercussions sur la qualité de vie.

The Chair: In the study that goes with the budget bill.

Senator Mégie: It goes with Bill C-69.

Mr. Théberge: If it's a Statistics Canada study, I wouldn't be able to dispute their numbers. If I understand the paragraph correctly, recent francophone immigration, especially in francophone communities outside Quebec, is largely made up of newcomers and immigrants from countries in West Africa and North Africa. I get the impression the statement refers to that group.

Senator Mégie: Because there are more French speakers, they invade more?

Mr. Théberge: There are a lot of conversations happening about immigration. Under part VII of the Act, IRCC is supposed to table a francophone immigration plan that the department developed in January. I think an important part of that immigration plan is searching for potential immigrants wherever they're at.

Senator Mégie: Thank you. If you ever have other thoughts about this document, would you please send them to the clerk in writing?

Mr. Théberge: Yes.

The Chair: Very good.

Senator Aucoin: I'm from a minority francophone community, so I looked at the number of complaints. There were 847 complaints in 2023-24. That number was down 50%. I'm not trying to put words in your mouth, but you yourself admitted that, in the past, the results and the number of complaints for each department didn't necessarily change anything. How can we here at the Senate committee and people in minority francophone communities be as optimistic as you about the fact that the new sanctions and the Commissioner's new powers will bring about a real attitude shift and produce results? It's not just the attitude that needs to change. We need to see results and changes that will benefit our minority communities.

Mr. Théberge: Before Bill C-13, the commissioner would receive a complaint, investigate and make a recommendation. Implementation of the recommendation depended on the goodwill of the federal institution. Now, with Bill C-13, we will have a new investigation process that will be akin to a highway. We receive a complaint, then we can go to mediation to resolve the problem quickly. We can also enter into a compliance agreement with deadlines while specifying the results. If the

Le président : Dans l'étude qui accompagne le projet de loi sur le budget.

La sénatrice Mégie : Qui accompagne le projet de loi C-69.

M. Théberge : L'étude est de Statistique Canada, donc je ne pourrais pas contester leurs chiffres. Si je comprends bien ce paragraphe, récemment, quand on parle d'immigration francophone, surtout dans les communautés francophones hors Québec, on constate qu'un très grand nombre de nouveaux arrivants et d'immigrants viennent de pays d'Afrique de l'Ouest et d'Afrique du Nord, par exemple. J'ai l'impression que cet énoncé fait référence à ce groupe.

La sénatrice Mégie : Comme il y a un plus grand nombre de personnes qui parlent français, cela envahit plus?

M. Théberge : Il y a beaucoup de discussions actuellement sur l'immigration. Du fait de la partie VII de la loi, IRCC est censé déposer un programme sur l'immigration francophone que le ministère a développé au mois de janvier. Je pense qu'un élément important de ce plan d'immigration est d'aller à la rencontre des immigrants potentiels là où ils sont.

La sénatrice Mégie : Merci. Si à un certain moment vous avez d'autres idées sur ce document, pourriez-vous les envoyer au greffier par écrit, s'il vous plaît?

M. Théberge : Oui.

Le président : Très bien.

Le sénateur Aucoin : Puisque je viens d'un milieu francophone minoritaire, je regarde le nombre de plaintes. Il y en a eu 847 en 2023-2024. Le chiffre a diminué de plus de 50 %. Vous avez admis vous-même que les résultats, par le passé, et le nombre de plaintes — et je ne veux pas mettre de mots dans votre bouche —, pour ce qui est des ministères, ne changeaient pas nécessairement grand-chose. Qu'est-ce qui nous permet, au comité sénatorial et dans les communautés francophones en milieu minoritaire, d'être optimistes comme vous l'êtes sur le fait que les nouvelles sanctions ou les nouveaux pouvoirs du commissaire vont amener un vrai changement d'attitude et des résultats? Ce n'est pas juste l'attitude qui doit changer. Il doit y avoir des résultats et des changements dont nos communautés en milieu minoritaire bénéficieraient.

M. Théberge : Avant le projet de loi C-13, le commissaire recevait une plainte, il enquêtait et faisait une recommandation. La mise en œuvre de la recommandation dépendait de la bonne volonté de l'institution fédérale. Maintenant, avec le projet de loi C-13, on aura un nouveau processus d'enquête qui sera comme une autoroute. On reçoit une plainte, puis on peut aller en médiation pour résoudre le problème rapidement. On peut aussi conclure une entente de conformité avec des échéanciers en

compliance agreement is not respected, we can issue orders, like the courts do. So the mechanisms are much stronger.

Later on, with the possibility of imposing financial penalties — we will have to wait for the regulations — this will be an even stronger mechanism.

So, we now have tools. I want to use them, but I'd also like to see a change in attitude. Coercion alone is not enough to bring about change, but it's useful to have these tools in our tool box to encourage changes in behaviour.

As I mentioned earlier, very often federal institutions do implement recommendations, but we get another complaint later because the organization hasn't changed anything. I would like to think that, with this new language regime, with the compliance mechanisms and the new obligations required of federal institutions, this will help us ensure better compliance.

Senator Aucoin: You talk about the use of mediation and you have published investigation summaries. Could this mean that you could periodically, continually or in a more expeditious manner publish the outcome of the mediation, the complaint and the penalties, and that all of that would be public and done within a very reasonable time frame following the conclusion of the process?

Mr. Théberge: The publication of investigation summaries has an educational value; it is also a matter of transparency. We are not going to publish all the investigation summaries because some are repeated. These summaries add to the understanding of the official languages issue, not only for the public, but also for federal institutions.

As far as mediation goes — both parties have to agree — there are a number of situations that could be easily resolved through mediation. If it's a problem with a sign, the sign is changed. It's not like that for all complaints. At the end of the day, we want to ensure better compliance and we're going to use the best tool to achieve that.

Before, we didn't have any tools, but now we have a selection of tools that we can use. This will encourage better compliance by federal institutions.

Senator Clement: Thank you for being with us and for the road map; it's a tool that's well constructed to encourage a path forward, and that's great.

I also thank you for mentioning in your report the names of two Supreme Court justices, Justices Jamal and O'Bonsawin, who are truly inspiring examples of bilingualism — they are trilingual, to boot. It's good of them to give us a bit of inspiration.

spécifiant les résultats. Si l'entente de conformité n'est pas respectée, on peut émettre des ordonnances, comme le font les tribunaux. Les mécanismes sont donc beaucoup plus forts.

Plus tard, avec la possibilité d'imposer des sanctions pécuniaires — il faudra attendre le règlement —, ce sera un mécanisme encore plus fort.

Donc, on a maintenant des outils. Je veux les utiliser, mais j'aimerais aussi qu'il y ait un changement d'attitude. Ce n'est pas juste en étant coercitif qu'on va apporter des changements, mais c'est utile d'avoir ces outils dans sa boîte à outils pour favoriser des changements de comportement.

Comme je l'ai mentionné plus tôt, très souvent, les institutions fédérales font la mise en œuvre des recommandations, mais on reçoit une autre plainte plus tard, car l'organisation n'a rien changé. J'oserais croire qu'avec ce nouveau régime linguistique, avec les mécanismes de conformité et les nouvelles obligations exigées des institutions fédérales, cela nous permettra d'assurer une meilleure conformité.

Le sénateur Aucoin : Vous parlez de l'usage de la médiation et vous avez publié des sommaires d'enquête. Est-ce que cela peut vouloir dire que vous pourriez publier périodiquement, continuellement ou de façon plus expéditive le résultat de la médiation, de la plainte et des sanctions, que tout cela soit public et que cela se fasse dans un délai très raisonnable à la suite de la conclusion du processus?

M. Théberge : La publication des sommaires d'enquête a une valeur éducative; c'est aussi une question de transparence. On ne va pas publier tous les sommaires d'enquête, car il y en a qui se répètent. Ce sont des sommaires qui ajoutent à la compréhension de la question des langues officielles, non seulement pour le public, mais aussi pour les institutions fédérales.

En ce qui concerne la médiation — il faut que les deux soient d'accord —, il y a plusieurs situations qu'on pourrait régler facilement grâce à cela. Si c'est un problème avec une pancarte, on change la pancarte. Ce n'est pas comme cela pour toutes les plaintes. En fin de compte, on veut assurer une meilleure conformité et on va prendre le meilleur outil pour y arriver.

Avant, on n'avait pas d'outils, mais on a maintenant un choix d'outils qu'on peut utiliser. Cela va favoriser une meilleure conformité de la part des institutions fédérales.

La sénatrice Clement : Je vous remercie d'être parmi nous et pour la feuille de route; c'est un outil qui est bien fait pour encourager un cheminement, et c'est très bien.

Je vous remercie également de mentionner dans votre rapport le nom de deux juges de la Cour suprême, les juges Jamal et O'Bonsawin, qui sont des exemples vraiment inspirants sur le plan du bilinguisme — ils sont trilingues, en plus. C'est bien de nous donner un peu d'inspiration.

I have a question about complaints and their decreasing number. You said it was difficult to predict what will happen. Why do you think there are fewer and fewer complaints? I know you have the director of investigations with you. There can't be just one reason for that, but rather several reasons, and I imagine you're analyzing that.

Mr. Théberge: Two years ago, when we received 5,000 complaints, certain events occurred, including a speech by Air Canada.

On the other hand, high-profile events often lead to complaints in other areas because people are aware.

The following year, we received a significant number of complaints, but there was no specific cause. This year, the most important thing that happened in the world of official languages was the passing of Bill C-13, and that's a positive thing. We can't be against the passage of this bill.

However, when we analyze the complaints, it's always the travelling public that files the most complaints. There are fewer complaints, but the proportion remains the same. So the complaints are always about Air Canada, the Canada Border Services Agency, the Canadian Air Transport Security Authority, and so on. There are all sorts of reasons for this.

As I said earlier, is this the start of a new trend or is it an anomaly? The fact that there is better compliance from federal institutions could be good news. Before confirming or denying this trend, we'll wait a year or two to see if it happens again.

I was surprised; on the other hand, this year there were far more positives than negatives in the environment because of Bill C-13.

I don't know if Mr. Wolfe would like to add anything.

Patrick Wolfe, Assistant Commissioner, Compliance and Enforcement Branch, Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages: No, you've covered the issue. There's the travelling public and the language of work, which always comes second in the type of complaints we receive. We asked ourselves the same question internally. We're taking a closer look at these trends to get some answers in the coming years.

Mr. Théberge: With regard to the language of work, there is an increase, not a decrease. This is still a major issue for the federal government. It has an impact on service delivery and communication with the public. There is some complexity around the issue of linguistic insecurity and the linguistic review

J'ai une question sur les plaintes et leur nombre décroissant. Vous avez dit qu'il était difficile de prédire ce qui va se passer. Pourquoi pensez-vous qu'il y a de moins en moins de plaintes? Je sais que vous avez le directeur des enquêtes avec vous. Il ne doit pas y avoir une seule raison à cela, mais plusieurs, et j'imagine que vous faites des analyses là-dessus.

M. Théberge : Il y a deux ans, lorsqu'on a reçu 5 000 plaintes, certains événements précis se sont produits, notamment un discours d'Air Canada.

Par contre, lorsqu'il y a des événements médiatisés, cela génère souvent des plaintes dans d'autres domaines, parce que les gens sont conscients.

L'année suivante, on a reçu un nombre important de plaintes, mais il n'y avait pas de cause en particulier. Cette année, la chose la plus importante qui s'est passée dans le monde des langues officielles, c'est l'adoption du projet de loi C-13, et c'est quelque chose de positif. On ne peut pas être contre l'adoption de ce projet de loi.

Par contre, quand on fait l'analyse des plaintes, c'est toujours le public voyageur qui envoie le plus grand nombre de plaintes. Il y en a moins, mais la proportion reste la même. Donc, ce sont toujours des plaintes visant Air Canada, l'Agence des services frontaliers du Canada, l'Administration canadienne de la sûreté du transport aérien, etc. Il y a toutes sortes de raisons.

Comme je l'ai mentionné plus tôt, est-ce le début d'une nouvelle tendance ou est-ce une anomalie? Le fait qu'il y ait une meilleure conformité de la part des institutions fédérales pourrait être une bonne nouvelle. Avant de confirmer ou d'infirmer cette tendance, on va attendre un an ou deux pour voir si cela se reproduit.

J'étais surpris; par contre, cette année, il y avait beaucoup plus de positif que de négatif dans l'environnement en raison du projet de loi C-13.

Je ne sais pas si M. Wolfe aimerait ajouter quelque chose.

Patrick Wolfe, commissaire adjoint, Direction générale de la conformité et de l'application de la loi, Commissariat aux langues officielles : Non, vous avez fait le tour de la question. Il y a le public voyageur et la langue de travail, qui finit toujours deuxième dans le genre de plaintes que l'on reçoit. On s'est posé la même question à l'interne. On regarde ces tendances de plus près pour avoir des réponses dans les années qui vont suivre.

M. Théberge : Pour ce qui est de la langue de travail, il y a une augmentation, et non une diminution. C'est toujours un enjeu important dans l'appareil fédéral. Cela a un impact sur l'offre de services et la communication avec le public. Il y a une certaine complexité autour de la question concernant l'insécurité

of positions, but over time, there is an increase in complaints concerning the language of work.

Senator Clement: I was visiting Yellowknife this year with some groups, including francophones; it's always nice to meet a healthy francophonie in Yellowknife.

I see in some of the tables in the report that there are fewer complaints. Are you reviewing the awareness campaigns in terms of the services provided? Sometimes people don't know exactly what to do or what's available. They're also new francophones, in a new country.

Mr. Thériège: We often give workshops through our regional offices. Right now in Manitoba, a number of workshops are being held in communities to explain the new legislation and explain what the rights are.

The Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages does not have the resources to educate all Canadians about their language rights. However, we have done that for a long time in accordance with our means.

It's very interesting; I was at a banquet in Edmonton, and the person who was speaking remembered that, in fourth grade, someone had come and mentioned that you can file complaints with the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages. There is a need to raise awareness, and this is done not only through the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages, but also through promotional campaigns. Major promotional campaigns have been launched in the past; perhaps it's time to look at doing that again, since we have a new language regime. With a new language regime, we have the opportunity to do that promotion.

Next year, when I come back with my next report, we'll see if we still have the same figures. Bernard Derome always said, "if the trend continues." So, if the trend continues, we'll talk about it again next year.

Senator Clement: I will ask you the same questions again.

Mr. Thériège: Excellent.

The Chair: If the trend continues, we remember the lack of consistency between Part IV, which deals with the provision of services, and Part V, which deals with the language of work. Do you think the new piece of legislation has solved the problem? If not, what do you suggest to enable the federal government to align the obligations of federal offices, and thus provide services in both official languages to those located in a region designated bilingual for language-of-work purposes? There is a lack of consistency, and you are telling me that the problem has not been

linguistique et l'évaluation linguistique des postes, mais avec le temps, il y a une augmentation des plaintes en ce qui a trait à la langue de travail.

La sénatrice Clement : J'étais en visite à Yellowknife cette année avec certains groupes, dont des francophones; c'est toujours agréable de rencontrer une francophonie en santé à Yellowknife.

Je vois, dans certains tableaux du rapport, qu'il y a moins de plaintes. Êtes-vous en train de revoir les campagnes de conscientisation sur le plan des services offerts? Parfois, les gens ne savent pas exactement quoi faire ni ce qui existe. Ils sont aussi de nouveaux francophones, dans un nouveau pays.

M. Thériège : Par le biais de nos bureaux régionaux, on donne souvent des ateliers. À l'heure actuelle, au Manitoba, plusieurs ateliers sont offerts dans des communautés pour expliquer la nouvelle loi et expliquer quels sont les droits.

Le Commissariat aux langues officielles n'a pas les ressources requises pour sensibiliser toute la population canadienne sur ses droits linguistiques. Par contre, on l'a fait pendant longtemps à l'échelle de nos moyens.

C'est très intéressant; j'étais à un banquet à Edmonton, et la personne qui parlait se rappelait qu'en quatrième année, quelqu'un était venu et avait mentionné qu'on peut déposer des plaintes au Commissariat aux langues officielles. Il y a une sensibilisation qui doit être faite, et cela se fait non seulement par l'entremise du Commissariat aux langues officielles, mais aussi grâce à des campagnes de promotion. Il y a déjà eu de grandes campagnes de promotion par le passé; peut-être est-ce le temps de revoir cela, puisqu'on a un nouveau régime linguistique. Avec un nouveau régime linguistique, nous avons l'occasion de faire cette promotion.

L'an prochain, lorsque je reviendrai avec mon prochain rapport, on verra si on a toujours les mêmes chiffres. Bernard Derome disait toujours « si la tendance se maintient ». Donc, si la tendance se maintient, on va en reparler l'an prochain.

La sénatrice Clement : Je vous poserai les mêmes questions.

M. Thériège : C'est excellent.

Le président : Si la tendance se maintient, on se souvient du manque de cohérence entre la partie IV, qui porte sur l'offre de services, et la partie V, qui porte sur la langue de travail. Est-ce qu'à votre avis la nouvelle loi a réglé le problème? Sinon, que suggérez-vous pour que le gouvernement fédéral puisse arrimer les obligations des bureaux fédéraux, et donc offrir des services dans les deux langues officielles à ceux qui sont situés dans une région désignée bilingue aux fins de la langue de travail? Il y a un manque de cohérence et vous me dites que le problème n'est

solved. The lack of consistency is a major problem. What can be done? What should the government do?

Mr. Thériault: Not only is there inconsistency, but when I meet some employees of federal institutions, they are well aware that they will have to increase the number of service points. They wonder how they will manage to do it.

There will be 600 new service points. In the regulations, there are areas that were traditionally francophone but are now less so. We have new francophone regions because of migration and immigration. All of this will be arranged under Part IV of the regulations.

There is also the content of section 91 of the Official Languages Act, dealing with properly assessing the language requirements of positions to ensure that the people occupying those positions meet the language requirements.

The challenge is often that the capacity to deliver services in both official languages is not there. That must be planned for. An action plan is needed. There will be many new points of service that didn't exist before.

We're also talking about having, in terms of supervision, higher requirements in relation to the CBC level than they are currently. This is an extraordinary opportunity to ensure better implementation of the legislation, but there is a question of capacity that needs to be built within the apparatus.

The Chair: I read a report on section 91 in 2020. Have you published a follow-up to the recommendations you made?

Mr. Thériault: Yes, that's planned. Mr. Wolfe and his colleagues are following up with stakeholders. We will certainly publish the follow-ups in relation to section 91.

It's often the insiders who understand section 91 —

The Chair: It's about language skills, right?

Mr. Thériault: It's a fundamental provision. Section 91 says that the language requirements of a position must be established objectively. Very often, this is not done objectively; it's done on the basis of who's there and who's not. You need X, Y or Z. A job is supposed to be filled on an imperative basis. The person has to comply with the requirements, but often there is non-imperative staffing, which has an impact on the capacity to provide a service.

There is some alignment to be done between Part IV and Part V.

pas réglé. C'est quand même majeur dans le déficit de cohérence, justement. Que peut-on faire? Qu'est-ce que le gouvernement devrait faire?

M. Thériault : Non seulement il y a une incohérence, mais lorsque je rencontre certains employés d'institutions fédérales, ils sont bien conscients qu'ils devront augmenter le nombre de points de service. Ils se demandent comment ils pourront le faire.

Il y aura 600 nouveaux points de service. Dans le règlement, il y a des zones qui étaient traditionnellement francophones et qui le sont moins maintenant. On a de nouvelles régions francophones à cause de la migration et de l'immigration. L'agencement de tout cela se fera sur le plan de la partie IV du règlement.

Il y a aussi la teneur de l'article 91 de la Loi sur les langues officielles, portant sur le fait de bien évaluer les exigences linguistiques des postes, afin de s'assurer que les personnes qui occupent ces postes répondent aux exigences linguistiques.

Le défi, c'est souvent que la capacité de livrer le service dans les deux langues officielles n'est pas là. Cela se planifie. Il faut se doter d'un plan d'action. Il y aura plusieurs nouveaux points de service qui n'existaient pas auparavant.

On parle aussi d'avoir, sur le plan de la supervision, des exigences par rapport au niveau CBC plus élevées qu'elles ne le sont actuellement. C'est une occasion extraordinaire d'assurer une meilleure mise en œuvre de la loi, mais il y a une question de capacité qu'il faut bâtir à l'intérieur de l'appareil.

Le président : J'ai justement lu un rapport sur l'article 91 en 2020. Avez-vous publié un suivi aux recommandations que vous avez faites?

M. Thériault : Oui, c'est prévu. M. Wolfe et ses collègues font des suivis auprès des intervenants. On va certainement publier les suivis par rapport à l'article 91.

Ce sont souvent les initiés qui comprennent l'article 91...

Le président : C'est au sujet des compétences linguistiques, n'est-ce pas?

M. Thériault : C'est un article fondamental. L'article 91 dit qu'on doit établir de façon objective les exigences linguistiques d'un poste. Très souvent, cela ne se fait pas de façon objective; c'est fait en fonction de qui est là ou non. On a besoin de X, Y ou Z. Un poste est censé être doté de façon impérative. Il faut que la personne se conforme aux exigences, mais souvent, il y a une dotation non impérative, ce qui a un impact sur la capacité d'offrir un service.

Il y a un arrimage à faire entre les parties IV et V.

The Chair: Thank you. I'm going to give the floor to Senator Moncion, who will be followed by Senator Aucoin. Commissioner, I know you're enthusiastic in your answers, but I'm going to take the liberty of asking you to be succinct, as we have a lot of questions around the table.

I'd like to ask one last question. I know that a complaint has been filed about the cap on study permits. For information purposes, can you tell us under which section of the Official Languages Act this complaint is admissible?

Mr. Thériault: Under Part VII.

The Chair: Can you tell us how long your investigation will last? We have begun a study on this subject, and the commissioner's recommendations and views are of great interest to us.

Mr. Thériault: Mr. Wolfe?

Mr. Wolfe: This is certainly an investigation that we've prioritized and we want to see it move forward. You'll understand that we're not the only ones conducting investigations. We have to investigate, and sometimes there's a back and forth that takes longer. Normally, within a few months, we'd like to at least produce a preliminary report without going into detail about how it works.

I can't tell you how many months it will take, but I can assure you it's one of our priorities and we'll get it done as quickly as possible.

The Chair: Thank you.

Senator Moncion: I want to talk about Bill C-69. You said something important toward the end of your presentation.

[English]

You said that it would have the effect of preventing the report from being sent to the complainant, and you said that this section could be amended.

[Translation]

Did I understand correctly what you said about the bill?

Mr. Thériault: Currently, it depends on how it's interpreted. The investigation report cannot be sent to the complainant. Historically, the office of the commissioner always sent the report to the complainant, unless the complaint was anonymous. I don't know whether this was intentional or not. It's a matter of transparency. If you make a complaint, you want to know what happened, but it depends on how that passage is interpreted.

Le président : Je vous remercie. Je vais donner la parole à la sénatrice Moncion, qui sera suivie du sénateur Aucoin. Monsieur le commissaire, je sais que vous êtes enthousiaste dans vos réponses, mais je vais me permettre de vous demander d'être succinct, car il y a beaucoup de questions autour de la table.

Je me permets de poser une dernière question. Je sais qu'il y a une plainte qui a été déposée concernant le plafonnement des permis d'études. À titre d'information, pouvez-vous nous dire en vertu de quel article de la Loi sur les langues officielles cette plainte est recevable?

M. Thériault : La partie VII.

Le président : Êtes-vous en mesure de dire combien de temps durera votre enquête? Nous avons amorcé une étude spécifique à ce sujet, et les recommandations et les points de vue du commissaire nous intéressent beaucoup.

M. Thériault : Monsieur Wolfe?

M. Wolfe : C'est certainement une enquête à laquelle on a donné la priorité et qu'on veut voir progresser. Vous comprendrez que nous ne sommes pas les seuls à diriger des enquêtes. On doit enquêter et il y a parfois du va-et-vient qui prend plus de temps. Normalement, dans les mois qui suivent, on aimerait au moins produire un rapport préliminaire sans entrer dans les détails sur les façons dont cela fonctionne.

Je ne peux pas vous dire combien de mois cela prendra, mais je peux vous garantir que cela fait partie de nos priorités et qu'on va le faire le plus rapidement possible.

Le président : Merci.

La sénatrice Moncion : Je veux parler du projet de loi C-69. Vous avez dit quelque chose d'important vers la fin de votre allocution.

[Traduction]

Vous avez dit que cela aurait pour effet d'empêcher l'envoi du rapport au plaignant, et vous avez dit que l'on pourrait modifier cet article.

[Français]

Est-ce que j'ai bien compris ce que vous avez dit au sujet du projet de loi?

M. Thériault : Actuellement, cela dépend de l'interprétation que l'on fait. On ne peut pas envoyer le rapport d'enquête au plaignant. Historiquement, le commissariat envoyait toujours le rapport au plaignant, sauf si la plainte était anonyme. Je ne sais pas si c'était intentionnel ou non. Il y a une question de transparence. Si on dépose une plainte, on veut savoir ce qui s'est passé, mais cela dépend de l'interprétation que l'on fait de ce passage.

That's how we see it.

Senator Moncion: There's another part, as the proposed fixes don't seem to be a problem. That's my understanding. If you only mentioned this problem, is it because what is proposed to us is suitable?

Mr. Théberge: Yes.

Senator Moncion: You talk about amendments. It's extremely difficult for us to make amendments to bills like this. Have you made any representations to the officials in charge of Bill C-69 to ask that this part perhaps be amended in another way?

Mr. Wolfe: If I may, we have had informal discussions recently with those responsible for the bill. We can agree that, depending on our interpretation of the provision in question, it may be confusing. However, we don't necessarily have the same interpretation of the provision.

Senator Moncion: You've answered my next question: What kind of openness was there? I think we'll have to discuss that, as it could be an important issue.

The Chair: If I understand correctly, Senator Moncion, this is not the subject we will be considering this afternoon.

Senator Moncion: In this part of Bill C-69, their response is that what is presented is appropriate, but other things could be addressed. It's the words "other things" that I got hung up on.

Senator Aucoin: With respect to private companies under federal jurisdiction, what is the attitude that you have noticed so far? Without going into too much detail, is there openness in this area? In the past, it was more nebulous.

Mr. Théberge: We are at the regulatory stage. We need a decree before the legislation can be implemented. Work is under way on the regulations. There are a lot of definitions to be clarified when we talk about these companies: What is an employee? What is a region with a strong francophone presence? What is a client? A lot of terms need to be clarified.

For the moment, we haven't really looked into it. We're waiting for the consultation process to see what kind of regulations we want to adopt for this part of the legislation. Some advocate that it should mirror the Charter of the French Language.

I think we need to have solid regulations in order to have a very rigorous application. We have to agree on this: We're talking about the private sector, and my office, with the

C'est ainsi que nous voyons la situation.

La sénatrice Moncion : Il y a une autre partie, parce que les correctifs proposés ne semblent pas poser de problème. C'est ce que je comprends. Si vous avez seulement parlé de ce problème, est-ce parce que ce qui nous est proposé est convenable?

M. Théberge : Oui.

La sénatrice Moncion : Vous parlez d'amendements. C'est extrêmement difficile pour nous d'apporter des amendements dans de tels projets de loi. Avez-vous entrepris des démarches auprès des fonctionnaires qui s'occupent du projet de loi C-69 pour demander que cette partie soit peut-être modifiée autrement?

M. Wolfe : Si vous me le permettez, nous avons eu des discussions informelles récemment avec les responsables du projet de loi. On peut s'entendre pour dire, selon notre interprétation de l'article en question, que celui-ci peut porter à confusion. Par contre, on n'a pas nécessairement la même interprétation de l'article.

La sénatrice Moncion : Vous avez répondu à ma prochaine question : quelle était l'ouverture? Je pense qu'on devra en discuter, parce que ce pourrait être un enjeu important.

Le président : Si je comprends bien, sénatrice Moncion, ce n'est pas l'objet que l'on va étudier cet après-midi.

La sénatrice Moncion : Dans cette partie du projet de loi C-69, ils répondent que ce qui est présenté est convenable, mais que d'autres choses pourraient être réglées. Ce sont les mots « autres choses » sur lesquels j'ai accroché.

Le sénateur Aucoin : En ce qui concerne les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, quelle est l'attitude que vous avez remarquée jusqu'à aujourd'hui? Sans trop aller dans les détails, est-ce qu'il y a une ouverture de ce côté? En effet, dans le passé, c'était plus nébuleux.

M. Théberge : Nous en sommes à l'étape du règlement. En premier lieu, on a besoin d'un décret avant que la loi soit mise en œuvre. Il y a un travail qui se fait sur le règlement. Il y a beaucoup de définitions à préciser lorsqu'on parle de ces entreprises : qu'est-ce qu'un employé? Qu'est-ce qu'une région à forte présence francophone? Qu'est-ce qu'un client? Il y a beaucoup de termes à préciser.

Pour l'instant, on ne s'est pas vraiment penché là-dessus. On attend le processus de consultation pour voir quelle sorte de règlement on veut se donner par rapport à cette partie de la loi. Certains prônent qu'elle doit être un miroir de la Charte de la langue française.

Je crois qu'on doit se doter d'un règlement solide afin d'avoir une application très rigoureuse. Il faut s'entendre là-dessus : il s'agit du secteur privé, et le commissariat, à l'exception d'Air

exception of Air Canada and VIA Rail, does not work with the private sector. It's a new world; it remains to be seen how we will deal with this new reality.

The Chair: What are your concerns in that regard?

Mr. Théberge: My concerns revolve very much around the definition of the words "region with a strong francophone presence." It can mean different things to different people, depending on where they're from.

Senator Moncion: [Technical difficulties] with a strong anglophone presence?

Mr. Théberge: This is for all of Quebec. There's not a strong anglophone presence; it's for all of Quebec.

Senator Moncion: Yes, I know.

The Chair: Do you have any suggestions for the federal government on criteria for determining what a region with a strong francophone presence is?

Mr. Théberge: When we begin the consultation process, we will certainly have suggestions to make on that.

The Chair: Commissioner, Mr. Giguère, Mr. Wolfe, Mr. Leduc, thank you very much for appearing before us. As always, it was enlightening and also a bit challenging. It forces us to remain active and present on the issues surrounding the implementation of this new, modernized legislation.

Thank you very much and we look forward to seeing you again.

You will be publishing a second report in the autumn on communities. Can you tell us a bit about it? It's an important element and a novelty that you're producing two reports.

Mr. Théberge: I'll be very quick. The new legislation stipulates that the format of the annual report must focus on compliance. In the past, we always had a component on communities. This year, we've decided to respect what's written in the legislation. However, we will be producing a separate document on the state of the communities. Through regional representatives, in particular, we are monitoring the issues in the communities. We will then prepare a document for September or October and make it public.

The Chair: There will surely be a connection to the regulations for the application of Part VII, as it affects communities, right?

Mr. Théberge: Yes.

Canada et de VIA Rail, ne travaille pas avec le secteur privé. C'est un nouveau monde; reste à savoir comment on va transiger avec cette nouvelle réalité.

Le président : Quelles sont vos préoccupations à cet égard?

M. Théberge : Mes préoccupations tournent beaucoup autour de la définition des mots « région à forte présence francophone ». Cela peut vouloir dire une chose différente pour différentes personnes; cela dépend d'où elles viennent.

La sénatrice Moncion : [Difficultés techniques] à forte présence anglophone?

M. Théberge : C'est pour tout le Québec. Il n'y a pas de forte présence anglophone; c'est pour tout le Québec.

La sénatrice Moncion : Oui, je sais.

Le président : Avez-vous des suggestions à faire au gouvernement fédéral sur des critères qui permettraient de déterminer ce qu'est une région à forte présence francophone?

M. Théberge : Lorsqu'on va entamer le processus de consultation, on aura assurément des suggestions à faire à ce sujet.

Le président : Monsieur le commissaire, maître Giguère, monsieur Wolfe, monsieur Leduc, merci beaucoup d'avoir comparu devant nous. Comme toujours, c'était éclairant et aussi un peu interpellant. Cela nous oblige à rester actifs et présents quant aux enjeux relatifs à la mise en œuvre de cette nouvelle loi modernisée.

Merci beaucoup et au plaisir de vous revoir.

Vous allez faire paraître un deuxième rapport à l'automne sur les communautés. Pouvez-vous nous en glisser un mot? C'est un élément important et une nouveauté que vous produisiez deux rapports.

M. Théberge : Je vais y aller très rapidement. La nouvelle loi stipule que le format du rapport annuel doit être axé sur la conformité. Par le passé, on avait toujours un volet portant sur les communautés. Cette année, on a décidé de respecter ce qui est écrit dans la loi. Cependant, on va produire un document séparé sur l'état des lieux des communautés. Par le biais des représentants régionaux, notamment, on fait une vigie des enjeux dans les communautés. Ensuite, on va préparer un document pour les mois de septembre ou octobre et on le rendra public.

Le président : Il va certainement y avoir une relation avec la réglementation de la partie VII, car cela touche les communautés?

M. Théberge : Oui.

The Chair: We will be looking forward to this with great excitement.

Thank you very much, Commissioner.

The Chair: Dear colleagues, for our third panel of witnesses, we will proceed with the pre-study of Bill C-69, specifically Division 24 of Part 4 of the bill.

To do that, we have as witnesses Sarah Boily, Director General, Official Languages, Canadian Heritage, and Marcel Fallu, Manager, Official Languages. Welcome to the committee. We'll hear your preliminary remarks so that you can enlighten us on this amendment. We will then proceed to questions from senators.

The floor is yours, Ms. Boily.

Sarah Boily, Director General, Official Languages, Canadian Heritage: Good evening, honourable senators. I'm delighted to be here, along with an expert, my colleague Marcel Fallu, to provide a more in-depth explanation of the correction being proposed in Bill C-69.

As you already mentioned, Division 24 of Part 4 would amend section 61 of An Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages, which would in turn amend subsection 19(1) of the Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act.

Basically, the act as drafted gives employees, as well as former and potential employees, the right to file a complaint with the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages and to seek a legal remedy if they feel that their rights under the new Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act were violated.

Those rights are referred to in relation to the coming into force of the regime for federally regulated private businesses in Quebec. Slightly further down, the coming into force provisions for regions with a strong francophone presence — which we will be defining by regulation — contain an omission. The right is available only to employees. The reference to former and potential employees was omitted in that case. The correction in Bill C-69 ensures that the right is available to all three categories of employees, both in federally regulated private businesses in Quebec and in regions with a strong francophone presence.

The Chair: Thank you. That was pretty clear. I will turn the floor over to my fellow senators in a moment, but as I understand it, an omission was made, so a correction is needed to align

Le président : Nous allons attendre cela avec beaucoup d'enthousiasme.

Merci beaucoup, monsieur le commissaire.

Le président : Chers collègues, pour notre troisième groupe de témoins, nous allons procéder à l'étude préalable du projet de loi C-69, plus spécifiquement la section 24 de la partie 4 du projet de loi.

Pour ce faire, nous accueillons comme témoins Mme Sarah Boily, directrice générale, Langues officielles, Patrimoine canadien, ainsi que M. Marcel Fallu, gestionnaire, Langues officielles. Bienvenue parmi nous. Nous allons entendre vos remarques préliminaires afin que vous puissiez nous éclairer sur cet amendement. Nous procéderons ensuite à une période de questions avec les sénateurs et sénatrices.

La parole est à vous, madame Boily.

Sarah Boily, directrice générale, Langues officielles, Patrimoine canadien : Bonsoir, honorables sénatrices et sénateurs. Cela me fait grand plaisir d'être ici, avec mon collègue expert Marcel Fallu, pour vous expliquer davantage la correction qui est proposée dans le projet de loi C-69.

Comme vous l'avez déjà dit, à la section 24 de la partie 4, un amendement est proposé pour modifier l'article 61 de la Loi visant l'égalité réelle entre les langues officielles du Canada, qui, par ricochet, va modifier le paragraphe 19(1) de la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale.

Essentiellement, le texte de loi, tel qu'il a été rédigé, prévoit que les employés, les employés potentiels et les ex-employés peuvent déposer une plainte au Commissariat aux langues officielles ou encore lancer un recours judiciaire s'ils sont d'avis que les droits qui leur sont conférés dans la nouvelle Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale n'ont pas été respectés.

Ces droits sont présentés pour ce qui est du moment où le régime entrera en vigueur dans les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale qui sont situées au Québec. Un peu plus loin, dans les dispositions relatives à l'entrée en vigueur pour les régions à forte présence francophone — que nous allons définir par règlement —, il y a une omission qui a été faite. Le droit est présenté seulement pour les employés. On a omis de mentionner de nouveau les employés potentiels et les anciens employés. La correction présentée dans le projet de loi C-69 fait en sorte que ce droit est présenté pour les trois catégories d'employés, tant dans les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale situées au Québec que dans les régions à forte présence francophone.

Le président : Merci; c'est assez clair. Ce que je comprends, et je donnerai la parole à mes collègues ensuite, c'est qu'une omission a été faite entre les paragraphes 18(1.1) et 18(1.2) et

subsections 18(1.1) and 18(1.2) and section 16. Basically, that's the issue. You touched on this, but what would happen if the amendment wasn't made?

Ms. Boily: It would have a real impact. If the amendment wasn't made, it would mean that, after the second anniversary of the regime's coming into force in Quebec, those rights would no longer be available to those two categories of employees, former and potential employees, or to employees of federally regulated private businesses in Quebec. The way the provision is drafted, the right is available for only two years, such that two years later, it would no longer be available in Quebec or in federally regulated private businesses in regions with a strong francophone presence. In practical terms, it would mean that a potential employee could not file a complaint with the Commissioner of Official Languages or seek a legal remedy, and that would be a problem.

The Chair: Thank you.

Senator Mégie: Does the definition of a "potential employee" include someone who would qualify to apply for a position but hasn't done so yet? If they have yet to apply, how do you know whether they are eligible under the act?

Ms. Boily: A potential employee refers to someone who has a demonstrable interest in the position. Any potential applicant has the right to have a job posting that lists the skills required for the position and the conditions of employment. If that information wasn't available to those potential employees in French, they could file a complaint. That is how we would know who they were. We wouldn't know who they were exactly, but we would know there was a problem.

Senator Mégie: All right. Thank you.

Senator Moncion: You said that the proposed amendment to Division 24 of Part 4 would ensure that all employees of federally regulated private businesses in Quebec or regions with a strong francophone presence — whether they are current, former or potential employees — could file a complaint and seek a legal remedy if the business violated their language of work rights, as set out in the Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act. My question has to do with former employees. Does the act prescribe a deadline for former employees to file such a complaint — 1 year, 2 years or 10 years, say?

Ms. Boily: I'm not sure whether the act includes any deadlines. I'm inclined to think that the Commissioner of Official Languages is the master of his own procedure. When he was speaking earlier, he mentioned the six-month and one-year deadlines that had been agreed upon for parts IV and VII of the act. I think it may be up to him to determine the deadline.

l'article 16. C'est essentiellement cela. Vous en avez parlé brièvement, mais si cette modification n'était pas apportée, quel serait l'impact?

Mme Boily : L'impact est réel; si la modification n'était pas faite, cela voudrait dire qu'après le deuxième anniversaire de l'entrée en vigueur du régime au Québec, ces droits n'existeraient plus pour ces deux catégories d'employés, les employés potentiels et les futurs employés, et aussi pour les employés des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale au Québec. Étant donné la façon dont l'article est rédigé, c'est comme si le droit n'existait que pour deux ans et que deux ans plus tard, ce droit n'existerait plus au Québec et n'existerait pas non plus pour les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale dans les régions à forte présence francophone. Concrètement, ce que cela voudrait dire, c'est qu'un employé potentiel ne pourrait pas porter plainte au commissaire aux langues officielles ou intenter un recours judiciaire, ce qui serait problématique.

Le président : Merci.

La sénatrice Mégie : La définition d'« employé potentiel » s'applique-t-elle à quelqu'un qui serait candidat pour postuler à un emploi, mais qui ne l'a pas encore fait? S'il ne l'a pas encore fait, comment sait-on qu'il peut être admissible à une loi?

Mme Boily : On parle des personnes qui ont un intérêt réel pour un poste. Tout postulant qui pourrait présenter une demande a le droit d'avoir accès à un affichage qui décrirait les compétences recherchées pour le poste et les conditions de travail. Si ces employés potentiels n'étaient pas en mesure d'avoir accès à ces informations en français, ils pourraient déposer une plainte. C'est comme cela qu'on saurait qui ils sont. On ne saurait pas qui ils sont, mais on saurait qu'il y a un problème.

La sénatrice Mégie : D'accord, merci.

La sénatrice Moncion : Vous dites que la modification proposée à la section 24 de la partie 4 fait en sorte que tous les employés des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale situées au Québec ou dans une région à forte présence francophone, qu'ils soient actuels, anciens ou potentiels, peuvent porter plainte et exercer un recours judiciaire si l'entreprise contrevient à leurs droits en matière de langue de travail énoncés conformément à la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale. Ma question touche les anciens employés. Y a-t-il un délai prescrit dans la loi pour recevoir ces plaintes s'il s'agit d'un ancien employé — il y a un an, deux ans, dix ans?

Mme Boily : Je ne suis pas au courant s'il y a des délais dans la loi. J'aurais tendance à penser que le commissaire aux langues officielles est maître de sa procédure. Tout à l'heure, il parlait des délais de six mois et un an dont ils ont convenu pour la partie IV et la partie VII; je pense que la décision au sujet du délai pourrait lui revenir.

Marcel Fallu, Manager, Official Languages, Canadian Heritage: Ms. Boily is right when it comes to complaints relating to the language of communications with consumers. There is no deadline in that case. However, when it comes to language of work complaints, a limitation or prescription period is set out in subsection 18(2), and it's 90 days. Therefore, it would be the same for current employees, people with a demonstrable interest in a position and former employees. The complainant has 90 days after becoming aware of the act or omission or after the day on which the complainant ought to have become aware of the act or omission, in the commissioner's opinion.

The reason for the limitation on language of work complaints in federally regulated private businesses is that the employer-employee relationship falls strictly within the private sphere. That is why, when it comes to language of work in federally regulated private businesses, complaints are subject to more limitations than they would be in relation to consumers' rights or the Official Languages Act, which stipulates that anyone can file a complaint. That's not a change being introduced in Bill C-69. It really has to do with Bill C-13 — because of the omission, a reference that should have been included in section 61 wasn't.

Senator Moncion: Thank you. Here's my second question. You were here when we discussed the matter. I tried to get a bit more information on where things stood. I believe the explanation I got was that the new section didn't exist in the previous legislation and was being introduced in this act. Currently, when someone files a complaint with the commissioner, he can provide a copy of the complaint or analysis to the complainant. It was explained that subsection 19(4) includes the word "only," but subsection 19(2) doesn't, so there's a discrepancy between the two. I realize that it won't necessarily be the subject of an amendment, but I just want to understand the thinking behind not providing a copy of the review of the complaint to the complainant who filed the complaint.

Ms. Boily: First of all, the commissioner is meant to have the same latitude under the Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act as he does under the Official Languages Act, with two or three minor exceptions. The idea is to ensure that the commissioner can continue to share his investigation reports with complainants, under both the federal institutions regime and the federally regulated private businesses regime.

Today, the commissioner was kind enough to flag a potential error his office identified. We've looked at it briefly, so this is very preliminary information. We are going to take the issue

Marcel Fallu, gestionnaire, Langues officielles, Patrimoine canadien : Mme Boily a raison de dire que, en matière de langue de communication avec les consommateurs, il n'y a pas de délais, effectivement. Par contre, en matière de langue de travail, il y a un délai de 90 jours, soit un délai de prescription, qui est évoqué au paragraphe 18(2). Ce serait donc la même chose pour les employés actuels et les personnes ayant un intérêt réel pour le poste et les anciens employés. C'est 90 jours à partir du moment où le plaignant a eu connaissance de l'acte ou de l'omission ou la date où le plaignant aurait dû, selon le commissaire, avoir pris connaissance de cet acte ou de cette omission.

La raison pour laquelle une personne qui peut porter plainte est restreinte en matière de langue de travail dans les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, c'est parce qu'on a affaire à la sphère purement privée sur le plan de la relation entre l'employeur et l'employé. C'est pour cette raison qu'en matière de langue de travail dans les entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, c'est un peu plus restreint que cela pourrait être le cas en matière de droits des consommateurs ou en ce qui concerne la Loi sur les langues officielles, qui stipule que toute personne peut porter plainte. Il ne s'agit pas d'un changement introduit dans le projet de loi C-69; c'est vraiment à cause du projet de loi C-13 — l'omission fait en sorte qu'il y a un renvoi oublié à l'article 61 qui aurait dû être inclus.

La sénatrice Moncion : Merci. Voici ma deuxième question — vous étiez là quand on en a parlé. Je suis allée chercher un peu plus d'information pour savoir quelle était la situation. Je pense que ce qu'on m'expliquait, c'est que la nouvelle section n'existait pas dans l'ancienne loi et qu'elle est introduite dans celle-ci. Quand quelqu'un porte plainte au commissariat à l'heure actuelle, le commissariat est en mesure de remettre une copie de la plainte ou de l'analyse au plaignant. Ce qu'ils mentionnent, c'est que, dans le paragraphe 19(4), le mot « uniquement » a été inscrit, mais qu'il n'est pas au paragraphe 19(2). Il y aurait donc une divergence entre les deux. Je comprends qu'on n'apportera pas nécessairement de modifications, mais je voudrais juste comprendre l'idée derrière le fait qu'on ne remettrait pas de copie d'une étude de la plainte au plaignant qui a déposé cette plainte.

Mme Boily : Premièrement, il est prévu que la même latitude de pouvoir que le commissaire a en vertu de la Loi sur les langues officielles soit conservée dans la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, sauf pour quelques petites exceptions. Il y en a deux ou trois. L'intention, c'est que le commissaire puisse effectivement continuer de partager ses rapports d'enquête avec les plaignants, tant pour le régime des institutions fédérales que pour le régime des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale.

Ils ont été aimables aujourd'hui et ils ont soulevé l'erreur potentielle qu'ils ont trouvée. On a pu l'examiner brièvement et ce que je vous dis est très préliminaire. On va demander à nos

back to our team and ask them to examine it more closely. At first glance, it seems to be a misinterpretation, but that doesn't mean an improvement isn't warranted. There may be an opportunity to make that improvement. The Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act refers to the application of two subsections in the Official Languages Act, whereby for the purposes of those two subsections, the commissioner must make a report only to the chief executive officer of the federally regulated private business.

Under the two subsections of the Official Languages Act being referred to, the commissioner may provide a report to the President of the Treasury Board. The amendment, which applies only to those subsections, would distinguish between providing the report to the President of the Treasury Board and the leadership of the federally regulated private business. In no way does that take away the commissioner's power to share the report with complainants. Nevertheless, there will be a number of opportunities to improve the language in the act along the way. Obviously, that won't be possible through Bill C-69, but if confusion arises and clearer language is needed, that is certainly something that could be considered.

Senator Moncion: Thank you.

The Chair: I take it that there is still room for improvement in the Official Languages Act, and that's entirely appropriate. I want to try to summarize the comments we've heard and the questions that have been asked. The basis for the proposed amendment in this case is that something that should've been included was omitted. That wasn't the legislator's intent. It was a drafting oversight that could have been addressed at some point but wasn't. It was actually raised in the Senate, and we're glad that it was at the time. This is simply about addressing that omission and amending section 16 to bring everything in line with subsection 18(1).

What the amendment in Division 24 of Part 4 does is ensure that all employees of federally regulated private businesses in Quebec or regions with a strong francophone presence — whether they are current, former or potential employees — have the right to file a complaint and seek a legal remedy, as necessary, against the business violating their language of work rights. That's the rationale here. Is there any other relevant information you can give us, since we'll be referring to this panel's comments and sharing that information?

Ms. Boily: You summed it up nicely. Thank you very much and thank you to Senator Quinn for flagging the omission, because it would have had undesirable consequences.

équipes de se pencher sur cet élément et de l'étudier davantage. À première vue, ce serait une erreur d'interprétation, mais cela ne veut pas dire qu'il n'y aurait pas lieu de l'améliorer. Il pourrait y avoir une ouverture à l'améliorer. Dans le texte de la Loi sur l'usage du français au sein des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale, on fait référence à l'application de deux paragraphes de la Loi sur les langues officielles. On dit que, pour l'application de ces deux paragraphes, le commissaire transmet son rapport uniquement au premier dirigeant de l'entreprise privée de compétence fédérale.

Dans les deux paragraphes auxquels on fait référence dans la Loi sur les langues officielles, il est question du partage du rapport du commissaire avec le président du Conseil du Trésor. La modification, qui vise uniquement ces paragraphes, vise à faire la distinction entre le fait de partager le rapport avec le président du Conseil du Trésor et/ou le partager avec les dirigeants des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale. Cela ne supprime aucunement le pouvoir du commissaire de partager son rapport avec les plaignants. Cela étant dit, il y aura plusieurs occasions d'améliorer le texte de loi en cours de route. Évidemment, le véhicule du projet de loi C-69 ne sera pas une possibilité, mais s'il y a de la confusion et qu'il y a lieu de faire des précisions, il y aura certainement une ouverture à le considérer.

La sénatrice Moncion : Merci beaucoup.

Le président : Ce que l'on comprend, c'est qu'il y a toujours place à l'amélioration dans la Loi sur les langues officielles; cette question est tout à fait pertinente, mais j'essaie de synthétiser les propos et les questions qui ont été posées. Dans ce qui est proposé ici, le contexte de départ est qu'il y a eu une omission d'inclusion. Il n'y avait pas d'intention du législateur par rapport à cela. C'était une omission sur le plan de la rédaction qui aurait pu être réglée à un moment donné, mais qui ne l'a pas été. Elle avait d'ailleurs été soulevée au Sénat, et on apprécie que la question ait été soulevée à ce moment-là. Il s'agit ici tout simplement de tenir compte de cette omission et de modifier l'article 16 pour que le tout concorde avec le paragraphe 18(1).

Cette modification énoncée à la section 24 de la partie 4 fait en sorte que tous les employés des entreprises privées de compétence fédérale situées au Québec ou dans une région à forte présence francophone, qu'ils soient actuels, anciens ou potentiels, peuvent porter plainte et exercer un recours judiciaire, si nécessaire, contre l'entreprise qui contrevient aux droits en matière de langue de travail. C'est l'explication. Y a-t-il d'autres informations pertinentes que vous pouvez nous donner, puisque nous devons faire rapport au présent groupe de témoins et que nous devons transmettre ces informations?

Mme Boily : Vous avez fait un excellent sommaire. Merci beaucoup et merci au sénateur Quinn d'avoir soulevé cette omission, parce que les impacts n'auraient pas été souhaitables.

The Chair: Absolutely. Now there is an opportunity to make that improvement. Thank you for appearing before the committee. Since there are no further questions, we will suspend the meeting and resume in camera. Thank you very much.

(The committee continued in camera.)

Le président : Absolument. Il y a maintenant de la place pour faire cette bonification. Je vous remercie d'avoir comparu devant nous. Puisqu'il n'y a pas d'autres questions, nous allons suspendre la séance et revenir à huis clos. Merci beaucoup.

(La séance se poursuit à huis clos.)
